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Audit and Risk Committee report

Audit and Risk Committee report  gg

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITY
In addition to its Companies Act 71 of 2008 statutory duties, the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) provides oversight 
of the effectiveness of internal financial controls and systems of internal controls. This assists the Board of directors 
(Board) in monitoring the integrity of the Company’s Separate Annual Financial Statements and Group’s Annual 
Consolidated Financial Statements and related external reports.

The ARC oversees the Company’s external assurance functions and services that contribute to ensuring the integrity 
of the Group’s financial and integrated reporting. The ARC has oversight of the Company’s effective risk management, 
reviews the expertise, resources and experience of the finance function and evaluates the suitability of the expertise 
and experience of the Group Chief Financial Officer.

In addition to the committee members, the Group Chief Executive Officer, Group Chief Financial Officer, the 
Designated Advisor and external auditor attend committee meetings by invitation.

1.	 Members of the Audit Committee
Martie Janse van Rensburg	 Chairperson

Coen Bester 

Richard Willis* 

Elvin de Kock

*	 Resigned on 31 May 2021 due to role as acting Chief Executive Officer

2.	 Focus areas for FY2021
	– Reviewed and amended its terms of reference to revise the ARC’s composition to comprise of at least three 
non-executive directors, with the majority being independent.

	– Reviewed Etion Connect’s turnaround plan, including implementation of priority operational initiatives.
	– Interrogated strategic options for the Group and recommended for Board approval a carefully timed and 
well executed disposal of the Group’s businesses to realise value for shareholders.

	– Overseeing the remediation of audit findings from FY2020 – no material matters identified.
	– Reviewed the Group’s facilities with Nedbank and confirmed comfort with the Nedbank facilities letter and 
arrangements. During its annual review Nedbank acknowledged the positive trajectory demonstrated by 
the Group and indicated its willingness to consider applications for credit facilities case-by-case.

	– Assessed and was satisfied with the adequacy of internal financial controls, as envisaged in JSE 
regulation 3.84.

	– Interrogated and recommended for Board approval the consolidated Group budget for FY2022, and the 
business unit and corporate office budgets for FY2022.

	– Reviewed and approved the Group’s consolidated risk profile, having noted that risks contained in the 
Group’s risk register had been sufficiently classified, rated and reviewed.

	– Monitored the quality and effectiveness of the external audit process.
	– Assessed and deemed appropriate the combined assurance model applied by management within the 
context of the nature, scale and complexity of Etion and its consolidated subsidiaries.

	– Reviewed common core financial controls self-assessment and attestation completed by operating 
subsidiaries.

3.	 Focus areas for FY2022
	– Monitor the potential sustainability risk of COVID-19 as the virus continues to evolve.
	– Continuously monitor the Group’s liquidity and solvency adequacy.
	– Monitor the progress in financial reporting process enhancements.
	– Conduct an annual review of the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Group’s enterprise risk 
management (ERM) framework.

	– Ensure risk management processes remain responsive to the Group’s new strategic direction.

4.	 Meetings held
The ARC held 8 (eight) scheduled meetings during 2021 and all members attended all eight meetings.
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Audit and Risk Committee report

5.	 ARC report
During the year under review, ARC satisfied itself that:

	– The Company and Group has appropriate financial reporting procedures in place and that those procedures 
are operating;

	– The external auditor was independent, as set out in section 94 (8) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The 
independence of the external auditors is regularly reviewed as prescribed by the Independent Regulatory 
Board of Auditors (IRBA). The requisite assurance was provided by the external auditor to support and 
demonstrate its claim to independence;

	– It had reviewed and approved the external audit plan, including the proposed scope and audit fee and 
determined the nature and scope of non-audit services. All non-audit related services are governed by an 
appropriate approval framework; and

	– In respect of non-audit services, it considered and approved the appointment of PwC to perform the audit 
and review of the historical financial information related to the 2019 to 2020 financial years and the six-month 
period ended 30 September 2020 for LAWTrust and the six months ended 30 September 2020 pro-forma 
information for the Group, as required by JSE Category 1 disposal circulars.

Overall, the ARC is satisfied with the quality of the external audit for the year. The ARC:

	– Approved the rotation of audit partner and the appointment of Herman Eksteen as designated audit partner.
	– Assessed the suitability of the re-appointment of PwC and the designated individual partner, by considering 
the information provided by PwC as required per paragraph 22.15 (h) of the JSE Listing Requirements.

	– Evaluated the integrated annual report, separate annual financial statements and annual consolidated 
financial statements, and was satisfied with the application of the accounting policies, practises, judgements 
and estimates adopted in their preparation.

	– Reviewed and approved the audited annual financial statements, unaudited interim results and reviewed 
provisional condensed consolidated financial statements, key accounting considerations, related SENS and 
results announcements, as well as the Circular to shareholders.

	– After review, and in consultation with management, agreed to recommend to the Board for approval at 
the Annual General Meeting (AGM) the re-appointment of PwC as the external auditors for the 2022 
financial year.

	– The committee has assessed the appropriateness of the resources of the Group’s finance function and the 
experience of the senior members of management responsible for the finance function, and was satisfied 
with it. The committee has assessed the appropriateness of the Group Chief Financial Officer’s experience 
and expertise and is satisfied with it.

	– Considered the 2020 JSE report on proactive monitoring, issued 19 February 2021, the Investment property: 
Common findings report issued on 3 November 2020 and extracts from the Combined Findings Report and 
has taken the appropriate action to apply findings as highlighted in the JSE report when preparing the 
Separate Annual Financial Statements and Annual Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 
31 March 2021.

The ARC has evaluated the integrated report and Separate Annual Financial Statements and Annual 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 and considers that it complies, in all 
material respects, with the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and IFRS, and that the adoption of 
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements is appropriate. The ARC is of the opinion that the 
audited separate annual financial statements and annual consolidated financial statements should be 
accepted and read together with the report of the independent external auditor.

6.	 IT governance
The ARC provides oversight over the IT systems and related controls within Etion’s operating environment.
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Directors’ responsibilities and approval  gg

7.	 Other governance matters 
Dealings in securities
The Dealing in Securities Policy prohibits directors and senior employees from trading in securities during 
closed periods, or self-imposed embargo periods. Embargo and closed periods are in effect from 1 October 
until the publication of the interim results, and 1 April until the publication of year-end results. Closed periods 
include any period where the Group is trading under a cautionary announcement.

Compliance with policies is monitored on an ongoing basis and any breaches are dealt with according to 
the provisions of the policy and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements. All directors are required to obtain 
clearance from the Board Chairperson to trade in securities. The Board Chairperson is required to obtain 
clearance from the ARC Chairperson.

During the reporting period, the Group complied with the Listings Requirements and disclosure requirements 
of the JSE.

Company Secretary
The primary role of the Company Secretary is to ensure the Board is cognisant and aware of its fiduciary duties and 
responsibilities. The Company Secretary plays a key role in keeping the Board aware of relevant changes in legislation 
and governance best practice. Other key performance areas of the Company Secretary include overseeing the 
induction of new directors and the ongoing education of directors, and acting as secretary to the Board committees. 
The Board has unfettered access to the services of the Company Secretary.

The Board confirms that the Company Secretary:

	– Maintained an arm’s length relationship with the Board, noting that the Company Secretary is not a director of the 
Company and is not related to any of the directors;

	– Is independent from management and does not have executive duties and responsibilities, aside from the core 
responsibilities of a company secretary; and

	– Is not a shareholder of Etion and is not party to any major contractual relationship with Etion.

The certificate that the Company Secretary is required to issue in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act 71 of 
2008 is on page 7 of the Annual Financial Statements.

Annual compliance certificate
The annual compliance certificate confirming the Company’s compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements was 
completed and submitted to the JSE on 31 August 2020.

Sponsor
Etion understands the role and responsibilities of the sponsor as stipulated in the JSE Listings Requirements and has 
cultivated a good working relationship with its sponsor, Exchange Sponsors (2008) (Pty) Ltd. The Company is satisfied 
that the sponsor has executed its mandate with due care and diligence during the year under review.

Martie Janse van Rensburg 
Chairperson Audit Committee
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Directors’ responsibilities 
and approval
The Board of directors (Board) are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate 
accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual consolidated financial statements 
and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual consolidated 
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the financial year and the results 
of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual consolidated 
financial statements.

The annual consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued 
by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council, and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and are based upon appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established 
by the Group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the 
directors to meet these responsibilities, the board of directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing 
the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities 
within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure 
an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Group and all employees are required to 
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, 
the Group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of 
internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 
annual consolidated financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only 
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2022 and, in light of this review and 
the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has, or has access to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The directors of the Group are responsible for the controls over, and the security of the website and, where applicable, 
for establishing and controlling the process for electronically distributing annual reports and other financial 
information to shareholders and to the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Group’s annual consolidated 
financial statements. The annual consolidated financial statements have been examined by the Group’s external 
auditors and their report is presented on pages 14 to 19.

The external auditors were given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all 
meetings of the shareholders and board of directors. The board of directors believes that all representations made to 
the independent auditors during their audit are valid and appropriate.

The annual consolidated financial statements and additional schedules set out on pages 1 to 18 and pages 20 to 100, 
which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the board of directors on 30 July 2021 and 
were signed on their behalf by:

R Willis	 EC De Kock
Acting Group Chief Executive Officer	 Non-executive director
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Certificate from the Company 
Secretary
I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, in accordance with the Companies Act 71 of 2008, Etion has lodged with 
the Registrar all returns as are required of a public company in terms of section 88 (2) (e) of the Companies Act 71 of 
2008, for the year ended 31 March 2021 and, furthermore, that all such returns and notices are to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, true, correct and up to date.

Wyna Modisapodi
Company Secretary
Pretoria

CEO and CFO responsibility statement  gg
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CEO and CFO responsibility 
statement
The directors, whose names are stated below, hereby confirm that:

	– the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021, set out on pages 20 to 98, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Etion Limited 
Group in terms of IFRS;

	– no facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make the annual financial statements false or 
misleading;

	– internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating to the issuer 
(Etion Limited) and its consolidated subsidiaries has been provided to effectively prepare the financial statements 
of the issuer; and

	– the internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the annual financial 
statements, having fulfilled our role and function within the combined assurance model pursuant to principle 15 of 
King IV. Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) and the auditors the 
deficiencies in design and operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls and any fraud that involves 
directors and have taken the necessary remedial action.

Elvin de Kock	 Nerishini Naidoo
Non-executive director (Chief Executive Officer until 31 May 2021)	 Chief Financial Officer

Explanatory note on application of internal financial controls framework
Executive management have relied on a combined assurance model appropriate for the nature, scale and complexity 
of Etion Limited and its consolidated subsidiaries (Etion Limited Group or Group). This has been further impacted by 
the business strategy in respect to the unlocking of shareholder value and the anticipated delisting of the Group.

In terms of the Etion Enterprise Risk Management Framework (ERMF), the Group operates on a two tier assurance 
model which comprises the risk taking and control implementing first line (subsidiary management), with oversight 
provided by the second line (Group Executive Committee).In addition, oversight is also provided by the ARC.

As the level of maturity in respect to the first line of defence varies between the subsidiaries, we have implemented 
a common core financial controls self-assessment process. The self-assessments focused on the following core 
controls areas:

Subsidiary/Business Unit Key control focus area Result

Etion Create Financial reporting No exceptions noted
Financial systems No exceptions noted
Taxation No exceptions noted

Etion Connect Financial reporting No exceptions noted
Financial systems No exceptions noted
Taxation One exception noted with remedial actions 

being implemented
LAWTrust/Etion Secure Financial reporting No exceptions noted

Financial systems No exceptions noted
Taxation No exceptions noted

Etion Limited Company/Etion Digitise Financial reporting No exceptions noted
Financial systems No exceptions noted
Taxation No exceptions noted

The results of these self-assessments and remediation plans are correlated to the external audit findings and reported 
to the ARC who provides oversight.

The Group does not have an independent assurance provider as to the effectiveness of the risk framework and 
related self-attestations due to the size and complexity of the Group and imminent delisting activities. Taken as a 
whole, we are comfortable that the annual financial statements fairly present in all material respects the financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows of the Group in terms of IFRS.
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Directors’ report  gg

Directors’ report

The directors present the annual report, which forms part of the annual consolidated financial statements of the 
Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

1. 	 NATURE OF BUSINESS
Etion Limited is the legal holding company (herein referred to as the Company or Etion) and Etion Limited 
Group comprises a group of companies (herein referred to as the Group).

Etion is a technology investment company that invests in digital technologies that advance humanity.

The Group creates value by designing and manufacturing custom-designed and generic solutions, by acting 
as a distributor and a systems integrator of technology-based products, by operating an internationally 
recognised Trust Centre and developing software solutions for the global market.

2. 	 REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES
The Group operates principally in South Africa.

Currently, the Group is invested in three businesses: Etion Connect (Connect), Etion Create and LAWTrust. 
Etion Digitise remains a division within the holding company to provide ongoing support to its previous 
custom. Refer to note 40 for further information on the market segments of the Group.

The operating results and state of affairs of the Group are fully set out in the attached financial statements. 
The Group continues to explore various initiatives to further reduce costs, increase responsiveness to market 
conditions and re-focus business efforts to meet the challenges of a subdued South African market. This has 
increased demand for the Group’s digital signing and public key infrastructure solutions and increased orders 
for fibre to homes and businesses (FTTx) as customers sought to catch up with the networks’ build backlog 
created by the lockdown. This has resulted in a significant improvement in performance for the 2021 financial 
year.

Furthermore, as the share price of Etion has historically not reflected the underlying intrinsic value of the 
businesses in the Group, the board of directors initiated a process to unlock shareholder value late in 2020. 
It is within this context that Etion has concluded a transaction to dispose of 100% of its equity investment in 
LAWTrust. The results of LAWTrust have therefore been presented in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current 
Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Loss from continuous operations of the Group 
was R3.664 million (2020: loss of R74.769 million), after taxation of R1,030 million (2020: taxation credit of 
R17.951 million). Profit from discontinuous operations was R56.287 million (2020: R38.641 million).

3. 	 SHARE CAPITAL
The Company’s authorised share capital remained unchanged at 1 725 490 496 shares (2020: unchanged). 
There has been no change to the issued share capital.

4. 	 DIVIDENDS
No dividends were declared or paid to the shareholders during the year (2020: none).

5. 	 BORROWING LIMITATIONS
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company, the directors may exercise all the powers of the 
Company to borrow money, as they consider appropriate.

6. 	 GOING CONCERN
We are continually monitoring the COVID-19 outbreak and developments closely. The Group follows guidance 
from the World Health Organisation and abides by the requirements as activated by local governments. 
Contingency plans have been implemented as far as possible to mitigate the potential adverse impact on the 
Group’s employees and operations. The directors undertake regular rigorous assessment of whether the Group 
is a going concern in light of current economic conditions and available information about future risks and 
uncertainties.

The Group implemented work-from-home policies and travel restrictions for its employees to help protect the 
health of its employees and those around them. For those employees directly serving customers, the Group 
has implemented measures designed to safeguard both employees and its customers. The Group continues 
to respond to the developing situation, adhering to official guidance and applicable law and regulation to limit 
the potential spread of COVID-19.
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Directors’ report

The directors have reviewed the Group’s budget and projections of its expected medium-term profitability, 
sensitivity analyses and related cash flow forecasts for the year ending March 2022 which confirm that the 
Group has sufficient capital, liquidity and a positive future performance outlook to continue to meet its  
short-term obligations. On this basis and in light of the Group’s current financial position, the directors are 
satisfied that the Group will continue to operate for the foreseeable future, even when considering the 
imminent disposal of LAWTrust, and have therefore adopted the going concern basis in preparing these 
annual consolidated financial statements.

7. 	 MATERIAL EVENTS AFTER YEAR-END
Disposal of LAWTrust
On 20 April 2021, Etion entered in a sale of shares agreement to sell 100% of its shareholding in LAWTrust to 
Altron TMT SA Group (Pty) Limited (“Altron”) for a disposal consideration of R245 million.

A programme to market and dispose of the business was launched in September 2020 with numerous 
engagements taking place between various interested parties and Etion in respect of the potential acquisition 
of the subsidiary. The disposal is consistent with the Group’s strategy to unlock shareholder value.

As at 29 March 2021, following the approval of the transaction and sales and purchase agreement by the 
directors, and consideration of the principles and requirement related to IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Classified 
as Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, Etion transferred its investment in the underlying assets and 
liabilities of LAWTrust to non-current assets held for sale (refer note 18). As LAWTrust represents a separate 
major line of business, their results are presented as a discontinued operation in the consolidated statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income and related notes, including the re-presentation of the 
FY2020 comparative financial information.

The disposal was initially subject to the fulfilment or waiver of several outstanding conditions precedent by no 
later than 15 July 2021, including inter alia the approval from the Competition Commission and shareholders of 
Etion pursuant to the JSE Limited Listings Requirements. Etion and Altron have since signed an addendum to 
the sale and purchase agreement, wherein, the period in which the conditions precedent must be fulfilled 
has been extended to 31 August 2021. A circular to shareholders outlining all the pertinent information to the 
transaction was posted on 14 June 2021. The general meeting to approve the transaction was held on 
14 July 2021 with all the resolutions to approve the disposal passed by the requisite majorities of the Group’s 
shareholders.

Impact of COVID-19
While every effort has been made to quantify the future impact that the virus will have on the Group, the 
situation remains fluid and uncertain particularly in light of the continuation of the risk adjusted approach 
implemented by the South African government in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic and the potential impact 
of a third wave.

Based on the magnitude of the pandemic and its potential impact on the financial statements, management 
has conducted a review of all possible financial effects the virus could have on the measurement, presentation 
and disclosure provided. The results of this assessment are disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements.

Civil unrest in parts of South Africa
While Etion continues to monitor the potential impact of the civil unrest being experienced in various parts of 
the country, our preliminary assessments indicate that our operating entities have been largely unaffected by 
these events.

Potential risks identified include:

	– Delayed/non-payment from customer – The industries within which we operate have not been impacted by 
the unrest, with business continuing as usual. The Group has not received any specific communications from 
customers that would cause concern around their ability to meet their short-term obligations.

	– Business Continuity and employee safety – The sites from which we conduct business are well secured and 
located in areas that have not been affected. Furthermore, the implementation of work-from-home policies 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic has also assisted in minimising the disruption. For those employees 
directly serving customers, the Group has implemented measures to ensure the safety of both employees 
and its customers.
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	– Foreign exchange fluctuations – Although the Rand has continued to lose ground against the US dollar, the 
Group has sufficient cover in place to hedge foreign supplier payments.

	– Supply chain – We have not experienced any major disruptions or delays in the procurement of goods 
and services.

These risks and other emerging risks are monitored on an on-going basis by the Group executive 
management team and in line with the operation’s business continuity plans. While every effort is being made 
to manage these risks, the situation remains volatile, and we are unable to quantify the future impact that this 
may have on the Group.

No other matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to year but before the financial statements were 
issued that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of 
those operations or the state of affairs of the entity at the reporting date other than the events disclosed above.

8. 	 DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN STATED CAPITAL AND CONTRACTS
At 31 March 2021, the directors in aggregate, were directly or indirectly beneficially interested in 168 994 753 
(2020: 185 681 109) ordinary shares, equivalent to 29.94% (2020: 32.94%) of the issued ordinary shares of Etion 
Limited. The directors’ interest in the ordinary issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2021, is set 
out in the following table:

Number of shares held beneficially

Directors
2021

Indirect
2021

Direct
2020

Indirect
2020

Direct

Executive
T Daka – – 102 674 375 45 062 745
CF Maherry (while a director of the 
Group) – – – 16 686 356
R Willis* 1 549 342 – – –
Non-executive
T Daka 102 674 375 45 062 745 – –
CP Bester 19 708 291 – 19 708 291 –
R Willis* – – 1 549 342 –

123 932 008 45 062 745 123 932 008 61 749 101

*	� R Willis is a director of Conexus Trustees (Pty) Ltd, the corporate trustee of Conexus Capital Growth Fund (“CCGF”). CCGF is a 
bewind trust meaning that the trustees have administrative powers over the management of the assets; the beneficial ownership 
of the assets vest directly in the beneficiaries. CCGF owns 78 000 000 shares in Etion which approximates 13.82% of the issued 
share capital. The Willis Family Trust is the beneficial owner of 1 549 342 shares administered by the trustees of the CCGF 

There has been no change in the directors’ interest in the ordinary issued share capital between the end of the 
financial year and the date of approval of the annual consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ report  gg
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Directors’ report

9. 	 DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the period and at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors Designation Changes

T Daka Non-executive Resigned as CEO and moved to 
Chairperson of the Board, effective 
 01 February 2021

EC De Kock Non-executive Resigned as CEO, 31 May 2021 and 
moved to non-executive director with 
effect from 01 June 2021

CF Maherry Executive Resigned as executive director, effective 
31 August 2020

CP Bester Non-executive

Dr SJ Khoza Non-executive Resigned as Chairperson of the Board 
02 November 2020, effective  
31 December 2020

M Janse van Rensburg Non-executive

R Willis Executive Appointed as acting CEO, effective  
01 June 2021

N Naidoo Executive Appointed as CFO, 01 February 2021

Etion experienced several changes to the composition of its Board and executive leadership during FY2021. 
Dr Snowy Khoza resigned as independent non-executive Chairperson of on 31 December 2020 to focus on her 
other interests. Teddy Daka resigned as Group CEO with effect from 31 January 2021 in accordance with the 
provisions of his five-year employment contract, but remained a non-executive director and was appointed 
as Chairperson with Coen Bester as lead independent director, both with effect from 1 February 2021. 
Christi Maherry, co-founder of LAWTrust and an executive director, resigned with effect from 31 August 2020 
to pursue her interests in women empowerment and youth development, but remained a shareholder and  
non-executive director of LAWTrust.

Elvin de Kock, former Group CFO, who succeeded Teddy Daka as Group CEO, resigned from this role with 
effect from 31 May 2021 due to personal reasons, but agreed to remain on the Board as a non-executive director 
from 1 June 2021. The Board appointed Richard Willis as acting Group CEO, pending the appointment of a 
permanent Group CEO. Richard has been a non-executive director since 2018 and is suitably qualified to 
maintain executive management continuity and oversee the disposal process of the remaining operating 
entities. Nerishini Naidoo, who joined as Group Financial Controller in November 2018, was appointed Group 
CFO from 1 February 2021.

Directors’ remuneration
Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in note 36 to the annual consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ interests in contracts
No material contracts in which directors have an interest were entered into in the current financial year 
(2019: none).

10. 	 SECRETARY
The Group’s designated Company secretary is Mrs Wyna Modisapodi, situated at 85 Regency Drive, Route 21 
Corporate Park, Irene, Pretoria.

11. 	 LIQUIDITY AND SOLVENCY
The directors have performed the required liquidity and solvency tests required by the Companies Act 71 
of 2008.
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12. 	 AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. were appointed as auditors for the Group during the past financial year. At the 
Annual General Meeting, the shareholders will be requested to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the 
independent external auditors of the Group and to confirm Herman Eksteen as the designated lead audit 
partner for the 2022 financial year.

13. 	 SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
The following special resolutions were passed on 5 October 2020 at the annual general meeting:

	– Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors
	– Remuneration for ad hoc board committees
	– Intercompany financial assistance
	– Financial assistance for subscription/or acquisition of shares in the Company or a related or interrelated 
Company

	– General authority to repurchase shares

14. 	 COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Separate annual financial statements of the Company, Etion Limited, are available on the Company’s 
website: www.etion.co.za.

Independent auditor’s report  gg
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders of Etion Limited

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Etion Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together the Group) as at 31 March 2021, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

What we have audited
Etion Limited’s consolidated financial statements set out on pages 20 to 98 comprise:

	– the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021;
	– the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
	– the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
	– the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
	– the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of 
Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to 
performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits 
in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards).

Our audit approach
Overview

	

	

Overall group materiality
	– Overall group materiality: R6 921 129, which represents 1% of consolidated 
revenue.

Group audit scope
	– We performed full scope audits on Etion Limited and its significant 
components. Independent reviews were performed on those components 
that were deemed inconsequential.

Key audit matters
	– Goodwill impairment assessment; and
	– Discontinued Operations recorded in terms of IFRS 5.

Materiality

Group  
scoping

Key audit  
matters
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As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made subjective judgements; for 
example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future 
events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of 
internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that 
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to 
fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the 
overall group materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, 
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and 
extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on 
the financial statements as a whole.

Overall group materiality R6 921 129

How we determined it 1% of consolidated revenue.

Rationale for the materiality  
benchmark applied

We chose consolidated revenue as the benchmark due to the volatility of 
profit/losses for the last few years and because, in our view, it is a key 
performance indicator of the Group in reaching their short- and medium- 
term business objectives. We chose 1%, which is consistent with quantitative 
materiality thresholds used for profit-orientated companies in this sector.

How we tailored our group audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

The consolidated financial statements are a consolidation of nine companies (components) of which four were 
considered financially significant based on their contribution to consolidated revenue. We have performed full scope 
audits on these companies due to their financial significance. Independent reviews were performed on the five that 
were deemed to be financially inconsequential. All of these companies were audited/independently reviewed by the 
group engagement team.
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Goodwill impairment assessment
Due to the business acquisitions made by the 
Group in the prior years, the Group’s net assets 
include a significant amount of goodwill 
(R124 million) as at 31 March 2021.

Goodwill is not amortised and is tested by 
management for impairment on an annual basis, 
irrespective of the existence of any indicator of 
such impairment.

Refer to note 9 (Intangible assets) to the 
consolidated financial statements for disclosure.

Management has allocated goodwill to cash 
generating units within the Group. In order to 
establish whether an impairment should be 
recognised for a cash generating unit (“CGU”), its 
recoverable amount (the greater of the fair value 
less costs of disposal and value-in-use) was 
compared to its carrying amount.

Management determined the recoverable 
amounts of the continuing operations CGUs using 
the “value-in-use model” and for the discontinued 
operations using the “fair value less costs of 
disposal model”, in accordance with IAS 36 
Impairment of Assets.

This entailed calculating the discounted cash 
flows for each of the individual CGUs from 
continuing operations and evaluating the 
indicative market offer for the individual CGU 
from discontinued operations.

Significant estimates and judgements were 
applied by management in performing the 
value-in-use calculations.

The key assumptions applied in the valuation 
models are as follows:

	– Gross margin percentage;
	– Average revenue growth rate;
	– Pre-tax discount rate; and
	– Terminal growth rate.

A sensitivity analysis was performed by 
management over the value-in-use calculation 
by varying the revenue growth rate, gross margin 
percentage and discount rate.

No impairment charges were recognised against 
goodwill.

We performed the following audit procedures to test the Etion 
Board approved impairment assessments on the CGUs:

	– Evaluated whether the value-in-use methodology applied by 
management is an appropriate valuation methodology to be 
applied in the circumstances. Based on our work performed, 
we accepted that the valuation methodology is consistent with 
market practice;

	– Assessed management’s budgeting process by comparing the 
Board approved budgeted figures for the 2021 financial year to 
actual results;

	– Assessed management’s cash flow forecast for the 2022 
financial year and assumptions used in the impairment 
assessment against the Etion Board approved 2022 cash flow 
forecast. No differences were noted;

	– With the assistance of our valuation expertise, we 
independently calculated the discount rate, taking into account 
independently obtained data such as the cost of debt, risk free 
rates in the market, market risk premiums, specific risk 
premium, debt/equity ratios as well as the beta of comparable 
companies. Based on the work that we performed, we 
accepted the discount rate used by management;

	– Tested management’s key assumptions applied for gross 
margin percentage by evaluating revenue and cost of sales, by 
comparing them to the historical average revenue growth rate 
and gross profit for the 2017 to 2020 financial years. Based on 
the work that we performed, we accepted the assumptions 
used;

	– Tested management’s cash flow forecast by comparing the 
inputs in the forecast to management’s budget and order 
books for the forecasted period. Management’s inputs agreed 
to the budget;

	– In respect of management’s fair value less costs of disposal 
model, we agreed the offer price to the Altron binding 
agreement and we agreed the costs to sell to management 
workings. We found management’s model to be reasonable;

	– Performed sensitivity analyses on the value-in-use and fair 
value less costs of disposal calculations for the CGUs to assess 
the sensitivity of the valuation based on changes in the 
assumptions relating to the discount rate, gross margin 
percentage and revenue growth rates. We found that the 
value was within our expected range of values determined; and

Independent auditor’s report
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We considered the impairment assessment of 
goodwill to be a matter of most significance to 
the current year audit due to:

	– The significant judgements made by 
management regarding the assumptions and 
other forecasts applied in the determination of 
the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which 
goodwill has been allocated; and

	– The magnitude of the goodwill balance in 
relation to the total consolidated assets.

	– Assessed the appropriateness of the disclosure of the goodwill 
impairment considerations and key assumptions applied in the 
financial statements against the requirements of IAS 36, 
Impairment of Assets.

We independently recalculated the value-in-use based on the 
assumptions tested above and compared this to the carrying 
value. In respect of LAWTrust, the fair value less costs of disposal 
was compared to the carrying value. No impairments were noted 
for the CGUs.

Discontinued operations recorded in terms 
of IFRS 5
Refer to note 18 (Discontinued operations or 
disposal group or non-current assets held for sale) 
and note 4(j) (Critical accounting estimates and 
judgements - Date of classifying investment in 
LAWTrust as a Non-current assets held for sale 
and Discontinued operations in terms of IFRS 5 
Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

As at 29 March 2021, management concluded 
that subsidiary, Law Trusted Third Party Services 
Proprietary Limited (‘LAWTrust’) met the criteria 
to be classified as held for sale in accordance with 
IFRS 5 – ‘Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations’ (“IFRS 5”) in the 
consolidated financial statements for year ended 
31 March 2021.

The application of IFRS 5 was considered to be a 
matter of most significance to the current year 
audit because the transaction and its accounting 
is non-routine. Management’s judgements 
include amongst others, the likelihood of 
shareholder approval, the date of classification 
of the non-current assets as held for sale, the 
identification of the disposal group, and the 
valuation of the disposal group at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
In addition the presentation and disclosure of the 
disposal group in accordance with IFRS 5 – ‘Non-
Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations’ (IFRS 5) required consideration.

With the assistance from our accounting specialists, our audit 
procedures included, amongst others, an evaluation of 
management’s classification of the disposal group as held for sale 
and the results of LAWTrust as a discontinued operation in terms 
of IFRS 5.

We considered management’s assessment as well as the Etion 
Board approval regarding the date that LAWTrust was classified 
as held for sale to ensure that all relevant criteria of IFRS 5 have 
been met. No exceptions were noted in this regard.

We also considered management’s assessment of whether the 
investment held for sale was at the lower of the carrying amount 
and fair value less cost to sell.

The fair value less costs to sell of the investment was compared to 
the agreed sales consideration, together with the estimated costs 
to sell. No exceptions were noted.

We assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements as set out in Note 18 against 
the requirements of IFRS 5.

Independent auditor’s report  gg
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the document titled “Etion Annual Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021”, and the 
document titled “Etion Limited Separate annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021”, and the 
document titled “Etion Integrated Report 2021” which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit and Risk Committee’s 
Report and the Certificate from the company secretary as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other 
information does not include the consolidated or the separate financial statements and our auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will 
not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 
Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

	– Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

	– Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

	– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

	– Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

	– Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Independent auditor’s report
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	– Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Etion Limited for six years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
Director: Herman Badenhorst Eksteen
Registered Auditor 

Johannesburg, South Africa 
30 July 2021

Statement of financial position  gg
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Note(s)
2021

R’000
2020

R’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7 40 112 43 339
Right-of-use assets 8 22 695 27 982
Intangible assets 9 83 764 155 304
Investment in joint venture 11 – 240
Deferred tax 12 34 450 36 001
Other financial asset 13 993 975

182 014 263 841
Current assets
Inventories 14 47 462 55 341
Loans to related company 15 – 2 304
Trade and other receivables 16 128 999 118 458
Contract assets 22 20 725 17 991
Current tax receivable 3 008 9 469
Cash and cash equivalents 17 57 804 82 678

257 998 286 241
Non-current assets held for sale and assets of disposal group 18 179 080 –
Total assets 619 092 550 082

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 19 259 541 259 541
Retained income 101 709 49 086

361 250 308 627
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 20 46 293 51 585
Contract liabilities 22 – 355
Deferred tax 12 4 260 5 794
Lease liabilities 8 24 320 25 698

74 873 83 432
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 98 611 116 429
Interest-bearing borrowings 20 13 953 13 408
Contract liabilities 22 18 550 16 231
Current tax payable – 4 761
Provisions 23 2 600 2 600
Lease liabilities 8 2 341 4 522
Bank overdraft 17 51 72

136 106 158 023
Liabilities of disposal group 18 46 863 –
Total liabilities 257 842 241 455
Total equity and liabilities 619 092 550 082

Statement of financial position 
as at 31 March 2021
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Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income

Note(s)
2021

R’000
2020

R’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 25 419 269 346 996
Cost of sales 26, 29 (333 673) (268 138)
Gross profit 85 596 78 858
Other operating income 27 1 274 223
Other operating gains/(losses) 28 8 948 (7 269)
Movement in credit loss allowances (1 419) (12 035)
Other operating expenses 29 (88 849) (144 054)
Operating profit (loss) 5 550 (84 277)
Finance income 31 373 2 292
Finance costs 32 (8 557) (10 735)
Loss before taxation (2 634) (92 720)
Income tax (expense)/income 33 (1 030) 17 951
Loss from continuing operations (3 664) (74 769)
Discontinued operations
Profit from discontinued operations 18 56 287 38 641
Profit/(Loss) for the year 52 623 (36 128)
Other comprehensive income – –
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 52 623 (36 128)
Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent:
From continuing operations (3 664) (74 769)
From discontinued operations 56 287 38 641

52 623 (36 128)
Earnings per share for loss from continuing operations 
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company:
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 37 (0.65) (7.71)
Earnings per share for profit/(loss) attributable to the 
ordinary equity holders of the company:
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 37 9.32 (6.40)
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Statement of changes in equity

Share 
capital
R’000

Retained 
income

R’000

Total 
equity
R’000

Balance at 1 April 2019 259 541 85 214 344 755
Loss for the year – (36 128) (36 128)
Other comprehensive income – – –
Total comprehensive loss for the year – (36 128) (36 128)
Balance at 1 April 2020 259 541 49 086 308 627
Profit for the year – 52 623 52 623
Other comprehensive income – – –
Total comprehensive income for the year – 52 623 52 623
Balance at 31 March 2021 259 541 101 709 361 250
Note(s) 19
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Statement of cash flows

Note(s)
2021

R’000
2020

R’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 634 654 622 637
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (549 741) (534 401)
Cash generated from operations 34 84 913 88 236
Finance income received 860 2 718
Finance costs paid* (733) (7 439)
Tax paid 24 (16 049) (10 384)
Net cash flow from operating activities 68 991 73 131
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 7 (7 352) (2 368)
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 7 – 766
Purchase of other intangible assets 9 (9 455) (9 659)
Net cash flow from investing activities (16 807) (11 261)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of interest bearing borrowings 35 (4 748) (11 497)
Finance costs paid* (8 670) (3 816)
Proceeds from other financial liabilities 83 –
Payment on lease liabilities 35 (4 409) (3 963)

Net cash from financing activities (17 744) (19 276)
Total cash movement for the year 34 440 42 594
Cash at the beginning of the year 82 606 37 478
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 3 341 2 534
Total cash at end of the year** 17 120 387 82 606

*	 Total finance costs paid was R9.403 million (2020:R11.255 million)	

**	 The statement of cash flows presents the movement in cash flows related to continuing and discontinued operations
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Significant accounting policies

1. 	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual consolidated financial statements 
are set out below. These accounting policies are consistent with the previous year.

1.1 	 Basis of preparation
The annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the JSE Listings Requirements and the Companies Act 71 of 2008. 
The annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except for derivative financial instruments which are stated at fair value, on a going concern basis, and 
presented in South African Rand (rounded to the nearest R’000), which is the Group’s functional and 
presentation currency.

1.2 	 Property, plant and equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

	– it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group; and
	– the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the Group holds for its own use or for rental to 
others and which are expected to be used for more than one year.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less any accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of 
property, plant and equipment (including directly attributable costs in bringing the asset to its location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner that management intended) 
and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it to the extent it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably. Day-to-day 
servicing costs are expensed. If a replacement part is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment, the replaced part is derecognised.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and 
where the carrying value exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units 
are written down to their recoverable amount.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. 
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their estimated 
useful lives, using the straight-line method. Land is not depreciated. The asset’s residual values and 
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. If the expectations differ 
from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. 
Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its carrying 
amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for 
sale is derecognised.

The estimated useful lives of the major categories of property, plant and equipment are:

Buildings	 20 years
Plant and machinery	 5 – 10 years
Furniture and fittings	 6 years
Motor vehicles	 5 – 7 years
Office equipment	 4 – 7 years
Computer and electronic equipment	 3 – 16 years
Leasehold improvements	 Period of the lease
Manufacturing equipment	 4 – 17 years
Tools and laboratory equipment	 3 – 18 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition 
of an item of property, plant and equipment, determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item, is included in profit or loss when the item is 
derecognised.
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1.3 	 Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the 
net identifiable assets of the acquired business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of 
a business is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised, but is tested for impairment 
annually, as well as when there is any indication of possible impairment, and carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal 
of a business include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the business sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is 
made to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in 
which the goodwill arose.

1.4 	 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the weighted 
average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour 
and other direct costs but excludes interest expenses. Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. The cost of inventories 
of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services produced and segregated for 
specific projects is assigned using specific identification of the individual costs.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net 
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down 
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in 
net realisable value, are recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.5 	 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities.

1.6 	 Revenue recognition
The Group recognises as revenue the amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects 
to be entitled in exchange for goods or services when (or as) it transfers control to the customer.

The Group’s revenue is derived from contracts with customers. Revenue can be classified into the 
following categories:

	– Sale of goods manufactured
	– Sale of finished goods
	– Sale of designed, developed and project services
	– Sale of network installation services
	– Sale of licenses
	– Support and maintenance services

The Group recognises revenue when a customer obtains control of the goods or services. Determining 
the timing of the transfer of control over-time or at a point in time requires judgement and is 
determined as detailed below. Revenue is recorded based on the price specified in the contract. No 
discounts or rebates are provided. No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are usually 
made with a credit term of 30 days, which is consistent with market practice. The Group’s obligation to 
provide a refund for faulty products under the standard warranty terms is recognised as a provision. 
No obligation existed in the 2021 financial year (2020: an obligation existed). The Group does not sell 
extended warranties.
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1. 	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.6 	 Revenue recognition continued 

Sale of finished goods, sale of goods manufactured and sale of licenses (goods)
Sale of finished goods relates to where the Group on sells finished products procured to the end 
customer. Sale of goods manufactured relates to products that are manufactured and sold to clients 
based on the customers’ or the Group’s own specifications. Sale of licenses relates to the customisation 
and deployment of cloud based electronic solutions procured from third party vendors for use by the 
customer.

Customers obtain control of the “goods” when the goods are delivered to the location as specified. 
Delivery occurs when the goods have been shipped to the specific location and the customer has 
accepted the goods by means of a signed delivery receipt. Revenue from the sale of licenses, in respect 
to digital certificates, is recognised at the point in time at which the licence is granted and the customer 
can direct the use of and obtain substantially all the remaining benefits from the licence at the point in 
time at which the licence transfers.

Sale of designed, development and project services, sale of network installation services 
and support and maintenance services (services)
Sale of network installation services relates to installation services. Sale of designed, development and 
project services relates to a range of services offered to the markets in which we operate. Services also 
include the provision of maintenance and support services for these solutions and constitutes a 
separate performance obligation.

Revenue from providing “services” is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are 
rendered.

For the sale of design, development and project services, revenue is recognised over time by using the 
input method as reference to costs incurred to date as a percentage of total expected costs to be 
incurred at the end of the reporting period. Revenue from services is price based on the individual 
performance obligation.

The Group determined that the input method is the best method in measuring progress of the sale of 
design, development and project services as well as installation, maintenance and support services 
because there is a direct relationship between the Group’s effort (i.e., labour hours incurred) and the 
transfer of service to the customer. The Group recognises revenue on the basis of the labour hours 
expended relative to the total expected labour hours to complete the service or with reference to costs 
incurred to date as a percentage of total expected costs to be incurred at the end of the reporting 
period, depending on the nature of the contract.

1.7 	 Cost of sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net 
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down 
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in 
net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense 
in the period in which the reversal occurs. The related cost of providing services recognised as revenue 
in the current period is included in cost of sales.

Significant accounting policies
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1.8 	 Current and deferred income tax
Income tax expense
The income tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred taxes are 
recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent 
that the tax arises from:

	– a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive 
income; or

	– a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates 
to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income. 
Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that 
are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes 
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Current income tax for current and prior years is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the 
amount already paid in respect of current and prior years exceeds the amount due for those years, the 
excess is recognised as an asset.

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. 
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and 
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date and 
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised, for the carry forward of unused tax losses, to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available, against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised.

1.9 	 Leases
The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.

A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset 
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

In order to assess whether a contract is, or contains a lease, management determine whether the asset 
under consideration is “identified”, which means that the asset is either explicitly or implicitly specified in 
the contract and that the supplier does not have a substantial right of substitution throughout the 
period of use. Once management has concluded that the contract deals with an identified asset, the 
right to control the use thereof is considered. To this end, control over the use of an identified asset only 
exists when the Group has the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the 
asset as well as the right to direct the use of the asset.

In circumstances where the determination of whether the contract is or contains a lease requires 
significant judgement, the relevant disclosures are provided in the significant judgments and sources 
of estimation uncertainty section of these accounting policies.

Group as lessee
A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset are recognised at the lease commencement date, 
for all lease agreements for which the Group is a lessee, except for short-term leases.
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1. 	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.9 	 Leases continued

Short-term leases and leases of low value assets
Short-term leases are leases with a lease period of 12 months or less.

Leases of low value assets are leases of a value of R350 000 which comprises of low value printers, coffee 
machines and water coolers.

For these leases, the Company recognises the lease payments as an operating expense (note 29) on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of 
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Details of leasing arrangements where the Group is a lessee are presented in note 8 Leases (Group as 
lessee).

Lease liability
The lease liability is presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

	– Fixed lease payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives
	– Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at 
the commencement date

	– The amount expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees
	– The exercise price of purchase options, if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option
	– Lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option

	– Penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to 
terminate the lease

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease 
liability (or right-of-use asset). The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period incurred 
and are included in operating expenses (note 29).

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the 
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease 
payments made. The interest charged on the lease liability, determined with reference to the interest 
rate implicit in the lease or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate (note 4 (f)), is included in finance 
costs incurred (note 32).

Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position. Lease 
payments included in the measurement of the right-of-use asset comprise the following:

	– The initial amount of the corresponding lease liability
	– Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date
	– Any initial direct costs incurred
	– Any estimated costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset 
or the site on which it is located, when the Group incurs an obligation to do so, unless these costs are 
incurred to produce inventories

	– Less any lease incentives received

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the 
underlying asset. However, if a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the 
right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use 
asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation starts at the 
commencement date of a lease and is presented as other operating expenses (note 29).
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For right-of-use assets which are depreciated over their useful lives, the useful lives are determined 
consistently with items of the same class of property, plant and equipment. Refer to the accounting 
policy 1.2 for property, plant and equipment for details of useful lives.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for 
prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

When the Group or lessor terminates or cancels a lease, the right-of-use asset and lease liability are 
derecognised. On derecognition of the right-of-use asset and lease liability, any difference is recognised 
as a derecognition gain or loss together with termination or cancellation costs in profit or loss.

1.10 	 Financial instruments
The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of 
financial instrument held by the Group are presented below:

Broadly, the classification, which are adopted by the Group, as applicable, are as follows:

Financial assets which are debt instruments

	– Amortised cost. (This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on 
specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where 
the instrument is held under a business model whose objective is met by holding the instrument to 
collect contractual cash flows).

Derivatives which are not part of a hedging relationship

	– Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

	– Amortised cost.

Note 3 Financial instruments and risk management presents the financial instruments held by the 
Group based on their specific classifications.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at amortised cost
Classification
Loans to entities outside the Group (other non-current financial asset – note 13 and loans to related party 
– note 15) are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The contractual terms of these loans give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the Group’s business model is to collect the 
contractual cash flows on these loans.

Recognition and measurement
Loans receivable are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
loan. The loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the loan initially, minus principal repayments, plus 
amortisation (interest) using the effective interest rate method, adjusted for any loss allowance.
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1. 	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.10 	 Financial instruments continued

Financial assets at amortised cost continued
Impairment
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on all loans receivable measured at 
amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective loans.

The Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime 
ECL) when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If the credit risk on 
a loan has not increased significantly since initial recognition, then the loss allowance for that loan is 
measured at 12 month expected credit losses (12 month ECL).

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a loan. In contrast, 12 month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to 
result from default events on a loan that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

In order to assess whether to apply lifetime ECL or 12 month ECL, the Group considers whether there has 
been a significant increase in the risk of a default event occurring since initial recognition rather than 
evidence of a loan being credit impaired at the reporting date or of an actual default occurring.

Trade and other receivables
Classification
Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, VAT, employee costs paid in advance and 
prepayments, are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost (note 16).

They have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the 
Group’s business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on trade and other receivables.

Recognition and measurement
Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the receivables. They are measured, at initial recognition, at the transaction price.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal repayments, 
plus amortisation (interest) using the effective interest rate method, adjusted for any loss allowance.

Impairment
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, 
excluding VAT, employee costs in advance and prepayments. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date.

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected credit losses (lifetime ECL) based on the simplified approach, which represents the expected 
credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the receivable.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The Group makes use of an ECL calculation to determine expected credit losses on trade and other 
receivables.

The calculation is based on historic credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current and forecast direction of 
conditions at the reporting date, including the time value of money, where appropriate.

The customer base is segmented into groups that are considered to exhibit similar credit risks and 
behaviour. Concentrated positions including material account balances or atypical customers are 
provided with separate ECL’s where appropriate. Details of the critical judgements and assumptions 
applied in calculating the loss allowance is in note 4(b) and 16.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying 
amount of trade and other receivables, through use of a loss allowance account. The impairment loss is 
presented separately on the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

Significant accounting policies
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Write off policy
The Group writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been 
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Receivables written off may still 
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss under Other Operating 
Income (note 27).

Credit risk
Details of credit risk are included in trade and other receivables (refer to note 16).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These 
are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating 
cycle of the business), they are classified as current liabilities. Where this is not the case they are 
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables denominated in foreign currencies
When trade payables are denominated in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of the payables are 
determined in the foreign currency. The carrying amount is the translated to the Rand equivalent using 
the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.

Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the other operating 
gains/(losses) (note 28).

Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management thereof are provided in the trade and 
other payables note (note 21).

Bank overdraft and borrowings
Bank overdrafts and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Bank overdrafts and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the statement of financial position 
date.

Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments, which are not designated as hedging instruments, consisting of futures 
and option contracts are initially measured at fair value on the contract date, and are re-measured to fair 
value at subsequent reporting dates.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognised in profit or loss and 
presented as other operating gains/(losses) (note 28).

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or 
have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or 
cancelled or expires.

Significant accounting policies  gg
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1. 	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.11 	 Foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Group operates (the functional currency).

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transactions. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies, are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

At the end of the reporting period:

	– Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate
	– Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction

	– Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the 
foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of 
the cash flow.

1.12 	 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of 
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as 
interest expense.

1.13 	 Contract assets/contract liabilities
1.13.1	 Contract assets

The value of contract assets comprises the selling price for services rendered up to and including 
reporting date, which cannot be invoiced at this date due to contractual milestones not yet reached, and 
the unconditional right to payment not being present. The measurement is based on the percentage of 
completion method for fixed price development contracts. Contract assets are presented and measured 
net of allowances for expected credit losses.

1.13.2	 Contract liabilities
The value of contract liabilities comprises the excess of cash receipts over invoiced amounts for services 
rendered recognised up to and including reporting date. The measurement is based on the percentage 
of completion method for fixed price development contracts.

Revenue is recognised over time by using the input method as reference to costs incurred to date as a 
percentage of total expected costs to be incurred at the end of the reporting period.

Significant accounting policies
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Contract liabilities include the following:

Billings in excess of earnings
The value of billings in excess of earnings (contract liabilities) comprises the excess of invoice values 
over the selling price for services rendered recognised up to and including reporting date. The value 
is calculated based on the percentage of completion method for fixed price development contracts. 
The value is stated at selling price less provision impairment, if any.

Volume rebate
The value of contract liability consists of the volume rebate and is recognised over time by using the 
input method as reference to expected volume rebates payable to customer in relation to sales made 
until the end of the reporting period. The estimated volume rebate is revised at each reporting date. 
The contract liability will unwind to trade receivables when the performance obligation is satisfied.

The performance obligation is satisfied when the customer reaches their maximum sales threshold as 
stipulated within the volume rebate contract.

1.14 	 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss for the amount by which the carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are Grouped at the lowest level for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the 
individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined. The 
recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, attributable to each of the 
cash-generating units, or companies of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units or Groups of units.

Each unit or Group of units to which the goodwill is attributable represents the lowest level within the 
entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, and is not larger than an 
operating segment as defined by paragraph 5 of IFRS 8 Operating segments before aggregation.

An impairment loss is recognised for a cash-generating unit if the recoverable amount of the unit is less 
than the carrying amount of the unit. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of 
the assets of the unit in the following order:

	– To reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit
	– To the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss 
recognised in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. 
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset (other than goodwill) attributable to a reversal of an 
impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss of 
assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Significant accounting policies  gg
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1. 	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.15 	 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, 
such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care) 
are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted. The expected cost 
of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase 
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. The expected 
cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans
The Group operates a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under 
which the Group pays fixed contributions to a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive 
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees 
the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior years.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered 
pension insurance plans on a mandatory basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they 
are due and as the employee renders the services. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments are available.

Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses based on a formula that takes into 
consideration the profit attributable to the Group’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group 
recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where past practice that has created a 
constructive obligation.

1.16 	 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the financial statements 
in the year in which the dividends are approved by the directors.

1.17 	 Consolidation – subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the 
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The acquisition method of accounting is used to 
account for business combinations by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the transferred asset.

Significant accounting policies
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1.18 	 Earnings per share
The Group presents basic earnings per share (EPS) for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Headline earnings per ordinary share is 
calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period and is 
based on the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders, after excluding those items as required by 
Circular 1/2019 issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA).

1.19 	 Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:

	– It is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to 
the entity

	– The cost of the asset can be measured reliably

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. The 
amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end. 
The amortisation is included in operating expenses in the profit or loss.

An intangible asset arising from internal developments (or from the development phase of an internal 
project) is recognised when:

	– It is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale
	– There is an intention to complete and use or sell it
	– There is an ability to use or sell it
	– It will generate probable future economic benefits
	– There are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or 
sell the asset

	– The expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense 
when it is incurred. Intangible assets include the following:

Internally generated intangible assets (development of intellectual property)
Costs associated with the maintaining of internally generated intangible assets are recognised as an 
expense. Costs that are directly associated with the development or enhancement of identifiable and 
unique products or features that is under the control of the Group and that will probably generate 
economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets. Costs include 
the employee costs incurred as a result of developing the products, an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads as well as any hardware utilised in the development process.

Development costs on internally generated intangible assets are amortised over their useful lives.

Externally acquired computer software
Costs associated with the maintaining of externally acquired computer software are recognised as an 
expense.

Costs of externally acquired computer software products recognised as intangible assets are amortised 
over their useful lives.

Significant accounting policies  gg
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1. 	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.19 	 Intangible assets continued

Intangible assets identified as part of business combination
As part of applying the acquisition method for business combinations, certain intangible assets may be 
identified and recognised at the date of acquisition. These assets are amortised over the amortisation 
periods as per below. 

Intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method at the following rates:

Item
Average useful life/

amortisation period

Externally acquired
Computer software 2 years
Internally generated (developed products)
Rail products 2 – 3 years
Defence and cyber security products 3 – 5 years
Mining and industrial products 2 – 7 years
Telecommunications products 3 – 5 years
Intangible assets identified as part of business combination
Brand 5 years
Customer relationships 5 years

1.20 	 Segment reporting
The segment information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating segments, which 
requires disclosure of financial information of an entity’s operating segments.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker. The Chief Operating Decision-Maker, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the steering 
committee that makes strategic decisions.

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group engaged in providing products or services 
within a particular economic environment, which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from 
those of other segments. All intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

The Group operates within four operating segments and its principal activities are:

(a)	 Etion Digitise: Safety and Productivity Solutions (SPS)

(b)	 Etion Connect: Digital Network Solutions (DNS)

(c)	 Etion Secure: Cyber Security Solutions (LAWTrust)

(d)	 Etion Create: Original Design Manufacturing (ODM)*

*	 Operating segment includes results of Etion Create, Parsec Properties and Parsec Holdings
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1.21 	 Investment in joint venture
Investments in joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. Interest in equity-accounted 
investees are initially recognised at cost. Goodwill recognised on the acquisition of a joint venture is 
included in the carrying amount of the investment.

Derecognition
On the date that the equity-accounted investments are disposed of, the Group ceases to equity account 
the investments.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group recognises its share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income until the date on which joint control ceases.

Impairment
The Group assesses whether there is any indication that an equity-accounted investee may be impaired 
at each reporting date. An impairment is recognised when there is objective evidence that the equity-
accounted investment is impaired. Impairment losses are deducted from the carrying amount of these 
investments. Any impairment is calculated after application of the equity method. Losses resulting from 
transactions with equity-accounted investees are recognised only to the extent of unrelated investor 
interests in the equity-accounted investees.

Unrealised gains and losses
Unrealised gains or losses on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to 
the extent of the Group’s interest in them, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an 
impairment of the asset. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its 
interest therein, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless the Group has incurred obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

1.22 	 Non-current assets (disposal groups) held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use, and the sale is considered 
highly probable. They are measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell 
except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets and 
investment property that are carried at fair value and contractual rights under insurance contracts, 
which are specifically exempt from this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal 
group) to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less 
costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss 
previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current 
asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of derecognition.

A non-current asset is not depreciated (or amortised) while it is classified as held for sale, or while it is 
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the 
liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised in profit or loss.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale 
are presented separately from the other assets in the statement of financial position. The liabilities of a 
disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the statement 
of financial position. The results of discontinuing operations are presented separately in the Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held 
for sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part 
of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary 
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
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2. 	 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
2.1 	 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective 
for the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/Interpretation

Effective date:
Years beginning 

on or after Expected impact

	– Definition of a business – Amendments to IFRS 3 01 January 2020 Unlikely there will 
be a material 

impact
	– Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure initiative 01 January 2020 Unlikely there will 

be a material 
impact

	– Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors: Disclosure initiative

01 January 2020 Unlikely there will 
be a material 

impact

2.2 	 Standards and interpretations not yet effective
The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been 
published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2021 or 
later periods:

Standard/Interpretation

Effective date:
Years beginning 

on or after Expected impact

	– Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution 
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture

Indefinite Unlikely there will 
be a material 

impact
	– Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 
– Amendment to IAS 1

01 January 2023 Unlikely there will 
be a material 

impact
	– COVID-19-related Rent Concessions – Amendment to 
IFRS 16

01 June 2020 Unlikely there will 
be a material 

impact

Notes to the annual consolidated 
financial statements
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3. 	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUE AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value 
interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors.

Categories of financial instruments
Categories of financial assets

2021 Note(s)

Amortised
cost

R’000
Total

R’000
Fair value

R’000

Trade and other receivables 16 119 117 119 117 119 117
Cash and cash equivalents 17 57 804 57 804 57 804
Other financial asset 13 993 993 993

177 914 177 914 177 914

2020 Note(s)

Amortised
cost

R’000
Total

R’000
Fair value

R’000

Loan to related company 15 2 304 2 304 2 304
Trade and other receivables 16 106 525 106 525 106 525
Cash and cash equivalents 17 82 678 82 678 82 678
Other financial asset 13 975 975 975

192 482 192 482 192 482

Categories of financial liabilities

2021 Note(s)

Amortised
cost

R’000
Leases
R’000

Total
R’000

Fair value
R’000

Trade and other payables 21 95 541 – 95 541 95 541
Interest-bearing liabilities 20 60 246 – 60 246 60 246
Bank overdraft 17 51 – 51 51
Lease liabilities 8 – 26 661 26 661 26 661

155 838 26 661 182 499 182 499

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements  gg



40

ETION Annual Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

3. 	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUE AND RISK MANAGEMENT continued
Categories of financial instruments continued
Categories of financial liabilities continued

2020 Note(s)

Amortised
cost

R’000
Leases
R’000

Total
R’000

Fair value
R’000

Trade and other payables 21 99 018 – 99 018 99 018
Interest-bearing liabilities 20 64 993 – 64 993 64 993
Bank overdraft 17 72 – 72 72
Lease liabilities 8 – 30 220 30 220 30 220

164 083 30 220 194 303 194 303

Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for the shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in notes 8 and 20, 
cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 17, and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the 
shareholders, return capital to the shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. Consistent with 
others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

The gearing of the Group is considered by the Board of Directors to ensure that the appropriate level of gearing 
is in place based on operational funding requirements and the forecasted cash flow of the Group at that point 
in time. An optimal or targeted gearing ratio has not been defined however the Group aims to minimise, to the 
extent possible, the use of debt to support the operational needs of the businesses and maintain a healthy 
gearing ratio of below 15%. A gearing ratio higher than 50% is typically considered highly geared. A gearing 
ratio lower than 25% is typically considered low-risk by both investors and lenders. 

This ratio is calculated as net debt by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total ‘borrowings’ (including current 
and non-current ‘borrowings’ as shown in the statement of financial position) less ‘cash and cash equivalents’. 
Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the statement of financial position plus net debt.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or 
externally imposed capital requirements from the previous year.

The gearing ratio at 2021 and 2020 respectively were as follows:

Note(s)
2021

R’000
2020

R’000

Interest-bearing borrowings 20 60 246 64 993
Lease liabilities 8 26 661 30 220
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 17 (57 753) (82 606)
Total borrowings 29 154 12 607
Equity 361 250 308 627
Total capital 390 404 321 234
Gearing ratio 7.50% 4%

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements
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Financial risk management
Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks 
and financial institutions as well as credit exposures to large customers, including outstanding receivables and 
committed transactions. For banks and financial institutions, only the big four banks in South Africa are 
accepted. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent 
rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer taking into account its financial position, past 
experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance 
with limits set by management. A customer is considered to be credit impaired when information indicating 
that the customer is in severe financial difficulty comes to light and there is no realistic prospect of recovery 
(e.g. when the counter-party has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings).

The Group may request certain customers to provide advance payments, as collateral against credit risk, in 
respect of contracts concluded. The objective of such collateral is to counter the risk of non-payment by the 
Group’s contract debtors. This process is followed by the Group as far as possible to manage the credit risk 
before credit is granted to the customers on projects.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand, bank balances and demand deposits. The Group’s 
exposure to credit risk is limited by investing in highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash. The Group holds cash and cash equivalents with reputable financial institutions.

The Group has determined that the ECL on cash and cash equivalents is immaterial.

Trade receivables
Refer to note 16 and 22 for credit risk disclosures.

Loans to related companies
Loans to related companies are repayable on demand.

Credit loss allowances for expected credit losses are recognised for all debt instruments.

The credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, excluding cash on hand can be assessed by 
reference to external credit ratings (if available) or historical information about counterparty default rates.

Overview to maximum exposure of credit risk:

2021 2020

Note(s)

Gross
carrying
amount

R’000

Credit loss
allowance

R’000

Amortised
cost/fair

value
R’000

Gross
carrying
amount

R’000

Credit loss
allowance

R’000

Amortised
cost/fair

value
R’000

Loans to group 
companies 15 – – – 2 350 (46) 2 304
Trade and other 
receivables 16 125 915 (6 798) 119 117 124 958 (18 433) 106 525
Contract assets 22 21 060 (335) 20 725 18 819 (828) 17 991
Cash and cash 
equivalents 17 57 804 – 57 804 82 678 – 82 678
Other financial assets 13 1 010 (17) 993 1 010 (35) 975

205 789 (7 150) 198 639 229 815 (19 342) 210 473

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements  gg
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3. 	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUE AND RISK MANAGEMENT continued
Financial risk management continued

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Credit rating
Ba1: Nedbank; Standard Bank, ABSA and First National Bank 57 753 82 606

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash to meet obligations when due and to 
close out market positions and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available. At the 
end of the reporting period the Group held deposits on call of R57.804m (2020 – R82.678m) that are expected 
to generate cash flows for managing liquidity risk. A portion of cash generated from the sale of LAWTrust may 
also be utilised for the operating requirements of the Group as the Directors deem fit.

The maturity profile of contractual cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities are presented in the following 
table. The cash flows are the undiscounted contractual amounts:

2021 Note(s)
Less than

1 year

Between
1 and 2

years

Between
2 to 5
years

Over 
5 years

Total con-
tractual

cash
outflow

Carrying 
amount 

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing 
borrowings 20 – 17 473 33 970 – 51 443 46 293
Lease liabilities 8 – 6 238 16 266 10 159 32 663 24 320
Current liabilities
Trade and other 
payables 21 95 541 – – – 95 541 95 541
Interest bearing 
borrowings 20 18 757 – – – 18 757 13 953
Bank overdraft 17 51 – – – 51 51
Lease liabilities 8 4 997 – – – 4 997 2 341

119 346 23 711 50 236 10 159 203 452 182 499
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2020 Note(s)
Less than

1 year

Between
1 and 2

years

Between
2 and 5

years
Over 

5 years

Total con-
tractual

cash
outflow

Carrying 
amount

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing 
borrowings 20 – 17 084 45 012 – 62 096 51 585
Lease liabilities 8 – 5 283 15 060 16 004 36 347 25 698
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 99 018 – – – 99 018 99 018
Interest bearing 
borrowings 20 18 419 – – – 18 419 13 408
Bank overdraft 17 72 – – – 72 72
Lease liabilities 8 7 262 – – – 7 262 4 522

124 771 22 367 60 072 16 004 223 214 194 303

Foreign currency risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar. Foreign exchange risks arises from future commercial 
transactions as well as recognised assets and liabilities, denominated in a currency that is not the Group’s 
functional currency.

Management uses Forward Exchange Contracts (“FEC’s”) and futures contracts to hedge certain foreign 
currency liabilities when and where applicable to manage the exchange risk on these transactions. This is 
consistent with the method used in prior years.

Foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period
The net carrying amounts, in foreign currency of the above exposure was as follows:

2021
’000

2020
’000

Current assets:

Trade debtors (USD) US$1 626 US$463
Cash (USD bank accounts) US$190 US$759
Current liabilities:
Trade creditors (USD creditors) US$3 800 US$3 739
Trade creditors (Euro creditors) €139 €13
Trade creditors (GBP creditors) GBP5 GBP–
Exchange rates
The following closing exchange rates were applied at  
reporting date:
Rand per unit of foreign currency:
US Dollar 14.837 17.980
Euro 17.422 19.772
GBP 20.426 –
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3. 	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUE AND RISK MANAGEMENT continued
Financial risk management continued
Forward exchange contracts
The Group has entered into futures and option contracts for future commitments. These are marked to market 
daily through cash and bank.

2021
Contract

value
Number of

contracts
Future

contract rate

Fair value
translation

rate

Contract
maturity 

date

Future contracts
USD US$139 683 1 15.28 14.84 2021/04/26
USD US$797 000 797 15.07 18.07 2021/09/13
Euro EURO 5 933 1 18.35 17.42 2021/04/23
Euro EURO 39 100 1 17.84 17.42 2021/05/26
Option contracts
USD US$603 489 1 15.67 14.82 2021/04/07
USD US$238 221 1 15.72 14.85 2021/05/05
USD US$547 400 1 15.77 14.82 2021/06/09
USD US$440 657 1 15.83 14.82 2021/07/07
USD US$224 479 1 15.50 14.82 2021/08/06
USD US$273 700 1 15.71 14.82 2021/08/10
USD US$109 480 1 15.75 14.82 2021/09/07

2020
Value of
contract

Number of
contracts

Future
contract rate

Fair value
translation

rate

Contract
maturity 

date

Future contracts
USD US$370 000 370 14.64 18.14 2020/06/12
USD US$145 000 145 14.76 18.14 2020/06/12
Option contracts
USD US$700 000 1 17.79 17.77 2020/04/09
USD US$500 000 1 17.88 17.77 2020/05/14
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Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following information presents the sensitivity of the Group to an increase or decrease in the respective 
currencies it is exposed to. The sensitivity rate is the rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally 
to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change 
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 
amounts and adjusts their translation at the reporting date. No changes were made to the methods and 
assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis compared to the previous reporting period.

2021 2020
Increase or decrease in rate Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Impact on profit or loss:
US Dollar 10% (2020: 10%) 5 943 (5 943) 4 526 (4 526)
Euro 10% (2020: 10%) 241 (241) 26 (26)
GBP 10% 10 (10) – –

6 194 (6 194) 4 552 (4 552)

Interest rate risk
As the Group has interest bearing assets and liabilities, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are partly 
dependent on changes in market rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings, loans 
to related party as well as cash and cash equivalents. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to 
cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value risk. During 
March 2021 and 2020, the Group’s borrowings at variable rates were only denominated in South African Rand.

The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into 
consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions, alternative financing and possible hedging. Based on 
the scenarios, the Group calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate shift. The scenarios 
are run only for liabilities that represent the major interest-bearing positions.

As at 31 March 2021, if interest rates on South African Rand denominated borrowings at that date had been 
100 basis points lower with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit would have been R1 064 585 higher 
due to the net increase in interest earned on bank deposits and paid on borrowings. In March 2020 the pre-tax 
profit would have been R878 142 lower if there were a 100 basis points increase in the net interest earned on 
bank deposits and paid on borrowings for that financial year.

Price risk
The Group is not exposed to equity securities or commodity price risk.

Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions 
existing at each reporting date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for 
long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value 
for the remaining financial instruments. Refer to note 6 for the fair value disclosures.

The nominal value less loss allowance of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial 
instruments.

The fair values of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined by using the DCF method 
using discount rate that reflects the prime interest rate as at the end of the reporting period.
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4. 	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below.

(a) 	 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group tests annually whether any cash-generating units and goodwill has suffered any impairment, 
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 1.3. The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use 
calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and 
assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the gross margin, growth rate and/or discount rate 
assumptions may change which may then impact our estimations and can then require a material 
adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill and tangible assets.

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for 
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there 
are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash 
flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of 
goodwill and tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. They are 
significantly affected by a number of factors including supply/demand, together with economic factors 
such as the economic stability of the country of main operations, fluctuation in exchange rates etc. 
Refer to note 9 for estimates used.

(b) 	 Expected credit loss allowances
The impairment allowance for trade receivables, contract assets, and loans to related company is 
calculated using the Moody’s Analytics Credit Loss and Impairment Analysis Suite. The tool provides 
solutions for the most crucial aspects of the impairment calculation process based on assumptions 
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions 
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the analysis of empirical evidence of 
historical defaults and losses and existing market conditions. Material and concentrated exposures were 
assessed separately. The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, 
forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to 
changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. At every reporting date, the historical 
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The key assumptions and inputs involved include the following:

	– A default is classified as any amount that is not collected within 90 days of the start of the month in 
which it was invoiced.

	– Asset values were put through Moody’s Analytics ImpairmentCalc which incorporates their GCor 
macroeconomic data, forecasts, weightings and correlations to convert historic Credit Losses to 
forward looking ECL’s.

	– The resultant PD and LGD’s are converted from Through The Cycle “TTC” to Point in Time “PIT” 
measures using Moody’s Analytics ImpairmentCalc product, which conditions these measures based 
on their database of validated historic SA macroeconomic data and then calculates a forward looking 
ECL using macroeconomic forecasts with a probability weighted average of Moody’s Analytics’ 
economic forecasts and scenarios – Baseline (assumes GDP of 5.90%), Stronger Near-Term Rebound 
(S1-assumes an increase in GDP to 7.19%), and Moderate Recession (S3 – assumes a contraction in GDP 
to 1.45%), weighted 40%, 30% and 30%.

	– The macro-economic forecasts and scenarios used in the Moody’s Analytics credit models forward 
looking ECL have been adjusted to reflect the change in risk associate with the advent of COVID-19. 
The South African economy experienced a sharp decline in activity in 2020. Under all three of Moody’s 
Analytics scenarios, South Africa will experience a recovery in 2021 starting in Q1 with their S1 scenario 
forecasting economic growth to return quicker than the Baseline and S3 scenarios. The major 
correlations in the Moody’s models are to year-on-year changes in GDP.
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(c) 	 Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete inventory
An allowance is made for inventory to write inventory down to the lower of cost or net realisable value. 
Management has made estimates of the selling price and direct cost to sell on certain inventory items. 
The write-down is included in cost of sales.

(d) 	 Deferred tax assets
The Group uses budgets and financial forecasts of the respective companies for the foreseeable future 
to estimate whether deferred tax assets are recoverable or not.

Management has reviewed the three-year budget and financial plan of the Group and its underlying 
subsidiaries and based on the profitability projected consider it probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which the tax losses may be used, and the related deferred tax asset realised. Refer 
to note 12 for further detail.

(e) 	 Useful lives and residual values of PPE
The useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment items, specifically manufacturing 
equipment items that are utilised over many years, are evaluated annually. Management estimates are 
based on historical experience and industry norms, taking into account any relevant information on 
hand of residual values of assets being utilised that is readily available from equipment suppliers or 
other players in the manufacturing environment. Management performs annual residual value 
assessments for the residual value of the building and it is expected that the residual value of the 
property will at least be cost price.

(f) 	 Incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its 
incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the 
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary 
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR 
therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable 
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they 
need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, the lease terms, nature 
of the asset). The Group estimated the IBR using recent third-party financing received by Parsec 
Properties Proprietary Limited in respect to its property loan as a starting point. The reasonableness of 
using this rate as a reference is supported by the fact that other financing activities (overdraft facilities 
and instalment sales agreements) conducted within the Group have a cost of financing within a similar 
range. The rate (10.76%) was adjusted to make provision for certain entity-specific estimates such as the 
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating, the lease term, nature of the asset and possible security. The 
incremental borrowing rate was calculated for each legal entity in the Group utilising this external 
funding rate as a starting point for each entity and ranges from 10.5% – 11.3% due to the varying nature 
of the leased assets, lease term and risk profile of the subsidiaries within the Group.
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4. 	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS continued
(g) 	 Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension 
options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is 
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

For leases of buildings, office space and equipment, the following factors are normally the most relevant:

	– There are significant penalties to terminate, but none should the Group elect not extend. It is therefore 
reasonably certain that the Group will not terminate or extend the lease.

	– Leasehold improvements are not expected to have a significant remaining value, and this will not 
influence the Group to extend (or not terminate) the lease.

	– Otherwise, the Group considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs and 
business disruption required to replace the leased asset. Extension options in building and equipment 
leases have not been included in the lease liability, because the Group could replace the assets 
without significant cost or business disruption.

As at 31 March 2021, the most significant lease being that of the office building was 3 years into its  
10 year lease term. It is therefore not reasonably certain at this time as to whether the Group will 
consider extending the lease. Potential future cash outflows of R41.793 million (undiscounted) 
(2020: R41.793 million) have not been included in the lease liability in this regard.

The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Group becomes 
obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a 
significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and 
that is within the control of the lessee.

(h) 	 Capitalisation of intangible assets
The Group uses forecasted sales of products that are developed to determine if the costs capitalised are 
recoupable in the foreseeable future. Should it be determined that sales are not deemed to be enough 
to recoup the capitalised cost, the asset value is re-assessed and any impairment of the assets are 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in that particular 
financial period.

(i) 	 Change in corporate tax rate as announced by the minister of Finance
The Minister of Finance announced the change in the corporate tax rate from 28% to 27% for years of 
assessment commencing on or after 1 April 2022 in the Budget Speech on 24 February 2021. The 
changes to tax rates and tax laws are intended to be done in a tax revenue-neutral manner. Thus, any 
benefit derived from the reduction in the corporate tax rate is intended to be offset by limitations placed 
on interest deductions and the use of assessed income tax losses and other proposed changes.

The following was considered by management in determining whether the new tax rate has been 
substantively enacted at reporting date:

	– The impact of the changes in these tax laws are not known and the effects on taxable income 
are unclear

	– The time between the announcement and application of the new rate is unusually long
	– A change in tax rate as well as the broadening of the tax base was mentioned in the 2020 budget 
speech, but not addressed further

	– The tax rate change was mentioned in the Budget Speech but not addressed in the Budget Review, 
whereas previous rate changes were addressed in both the Budget Speech and the Budget Review

	– The Budget Speech referred to the changes as proposals, thereby inferring that these changes were 
not yet final and subject to an approval process or possibly further consideration

Management is of the view that a significant degree of uncertainty exists as to whether the 
announcement of the change in tax rate from 28% to 27% can be considered substantively enacted. 
Based on the above, management considers the change in tax rate to be inextricably linked to other tax 
law changes that have not been clarified by the Minister of Finance. Therefore, the new tax rate is not 
considered to be substantively enacted at the reporting date.
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(j)	� Date of classifying investment in LAWTrust as a Non-current assets held for sale 
and Discontinued operations in terms of IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Classified as 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
The accounting for the Group’s investment in LAWTrust (Etion Secure) as held for sale was considered to 
be a matter of significant judgement due to the considerations applied by management in determining 
the classification of the investment as held for sale.

As at 29 March 2021, Etion Limited transferred its investment in the underlying assets and liabilities of 
LAWTrust to disposal groups or non-current assets held for sale (refer note 18). As LAWTrust represents a 
separate major line of business, their results are presented as a discontinued operation in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, including the re-presentation of the comparative 
FY2020 financial information. The assets and liabilities of LAWTrust in the consolidated statement of 
financial position is presented as a disposal Group in assets held for sale line item as at 31 March 2021.

During the year under review the directors instituted a formal process to govern the sale of LAWTrust. 
Numerous bids were received and considered with final binding offers received on 4 December 2020. 
A preferred bidder was selected, and further negotiations undertaken. The directors approved the 
transaction and sales and purchase agreement as at 29 March 2021.

In order for LAWTrust to be classified as “held for sale” the sale is required to be highly probable. As at 
31 March 2021 the transaction still requires shareholder approval by way of a special resolution. The 
shareholder meeting for approval took place on 14 July 2021 with all the resolutions to approve the 
disposal passed by the requisite majorities of the shareholders.

Management applied their judgement and determined the sale of LAWTrust to be highly probably 
based on the following circumstances:

	– The sale is in an advanced stage
	– A significant percentage of shareholding is held by management or privately by individuals and 
institutions (53.72%)

	– Discussions with major shareholders indicate that they will not oppose the special resolution
	– Canvassing activities undertaken demonstrate that in excess of 64.98% of shareholders are most likely 
to vote in favour of the special resolution
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5. 	 IMPACT OF COVID-19
During the reporting period, there has been widespread local and global uncertainty associated with the 
COVID-19 pandemic. On 15 March 2020, a National State of Disaster was declared in South Africa due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic and subsequently, on 26 March 2020, a national lockdown became effective for all South 
African citizens and businesses. This national lockdown was extended until 30 April 2020. On 1 May 2020, a 
risk-adjusted phased-in approach of economic activity was implemented and promulgated in terms of the 
Disaster Management Act of South Africa, 2002 (Act 57 of 2002).

While the pandemic initially had a negative impact on the operations of the Group, the relaxation of restrictions 
has enabled the Group to ramp-up existing operations under the strict health and safety guidelines mandated 
by the government as outlined below.

The Group ceased its manufacturing activities within Etion Create with effect from 26 March 2020 due to 
mandatory government quarantine measures to contain the spread of the pandemic. Etion Create resumed its 
manufacturing activities on 24 April 2020, albeit at reduced capacity due to the occupational health and safety 
protocols to be maintained as prescribed by the Government. The relaxation of regulations over the period has 
however brought about improved demand within established and new geographic markets for Etion Create 
resulting in the growth of the short-term order book and the business returning to normal operating capacity.

Etion Digitise resumed operations from 1 June 2020, following the implementation of Lockdown Level 3. 
The business has not been able to recover revenue lost during this period however, with the business being 
optimised following its restructure in the 2020 financial year, the operational impact has been minimal.

While Etion Connect was successful in securing an essential services certification throughout the duration of 
the lockdown period, reduced customer demand and the contraction of the economy exacerbated by the 
COVID-19 pandemic led to a marked deterioration in revenue recorded for the first quarter of FY 2021 as 
customers prioritised FTTx (Fibre to the x market) installations and maintenance during the lockdown. This 
was anticipated to prevail in the second quarter of the 2021 financial year. As a proactive step, in July 2021, 
management initiated the strategic review of the digital network solutions business and implemented a 
reorganisation of Etion Connect business with the objective of ensuring its long-term sustainability and 
profitability. This has resulted in an improvement to profitability and is further supported by the current uptick 
in demand as customers try to catch up with their networks build backlog created by the lockdown, 
underpinned by the work-from-home trend. These positive trends have cemented Connect’s opportunities, 
and the business has recorded an improved revenue performance on the back of a healthy order book.

In contrast to the abovementioned businesses, LAWTrust has benefited from the COVID-19 pandemic with 
increased demand for its digital signing and public key infrastructure solutions. LAWTrust continued to operate 
throughout the lockdown, having been identified as an essential supplier by the Department of Home Affairs 
and the financial services sector. Furthermore, with the mass digitalisation of many businesses and the 
accelerated work-from-home trend driven by the COVID-19 pandemic, LAWTrust has experienced an uptick 
in interest for its cyber security product offerings.

While every effort has been made to quantify the future impact that the virus will have on the Group, the 
situation remains fluid and uncertain.

Management has therefore conducted a review of the possible financial effects the pandemic could have on 
the measurement, presentation and disclosure of balances that are most likely to be materially impacted as at 
31 March 2021:

COVID-19 
consideration Assessment Impact

Related 
note

Impairment of 
Goodwill

Due to the long-term impact of the pandemic on the 
economy as a whole, management has adopted a 
conservative approach in determining the operational 
and valuation assumptions and inputs applied in the 
recoverability assessment related to the cash-generating 
units of the various investments in subsidiaries and related 
goodwill held within the Group.

Low 9 –  
Intangible 
Assets

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements
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COVID-19 
consideration Assessment Impact

Related 
note

Inventory Management has also reviewed the inventory holdings of the 
businesses in the Group and have determined the proposed 
selling price to be in excess of the cost.

Supporting factors include the classification of Connect and 
LAWTrust as essential service providers in combination with 
the continued operations of Create and Digitise, although at 
a reduced level during the initial restricted economic 
environment. This resulted in no significant impact in relation 
to inventories as the items will be sold during the normal 
course of operations of the Group in the foreseeable future.

Low 14 – 
Inventories

Allowance for 
expected credit 
losses

The financial impact of the crisis has put an increased level of 
pressure on customers throughout the economic landscape 
in South Africa and foreign countries in which the Group 
operates. The overall increased risk is mitigated by the Group 
in relation to the continuous enforcement of the strict credit 
approval process, historically applied.

Refer to note 4(b), 16, and 22 for details of the Group’s 
methodology and critical accounting estimates and 
judgements applied in determining the allowance for 
expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract 
assets.

A consistent methodology is applied to most debtors 
however specific provision has been made for those debtors 
identified as having a higher risk of default. In these 
instances, management has applied a judgemental overlay 
to account for the increased credit risk.

Furthermore, since the commencement of COVID-19 there is 
no evidence of significance to suggest a change of credit risk 
and hence no adjustments have been made to the definition 
of default as applied by the Group. The debtor’s book was 
assessed based on shared credit risk characteristics and into 
common ageing buckets. Management has also considered 
the industries in which our customers operate as well as 
reviewed various media platforms to ascertain whether any 
of the Group’s customers or their industries were at risk of 
being impacted by COVID-19.

The economic consequences driven by measures to curb 
the outbreak of COVID-19 has negatively affected a specific 
debtor’s ability to pay, with the Group having received formal 
a request from the customer for the extension of payment 
terms. This request was granted under specific conditions 
and circumstances and has in turn increased the expected 
credit loss recognised on this debtor. Changes to the credit 
risk of specific debtors based on information available, are 
accounted for in the judgemental overlay applied by 
management.

The Group has monitored collections during the reporting 
period which on the whole have remained strong. The Group 
has also considered any specific communications from 
customers that would cause concern around their ability to 
meet their short-term obligations. No such communications 
were received except as detailed above.

Low 16 –  
Trade  
and other 
receivables

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements  gg
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5. 	 IMPACT OF COVID-19 continued

COVID-19 
consideration Assessment Impact

Related 
note

Non-financial 
asset impairment 
(Property, plant 
and equipment 
and right-of-use 
assets)

The nature of the non-financial assets and the fact that the 
significant operational entities of the Group were classified  
as essential service providers, resulted in the overall non-
financial assets having been recovered through use in the 
normal course of business albeit at a reduced operational 
level. In addition to this, the Group’s revenue-generating 
processes are not entirely dependent on the non-financial 
assets of the Group.

Discretionary capital expenditure was reduced for most of 
the financial year.

Future projections used in the value in use calculations 
performed in respect to various CGUs still support the 
carrying value of non-financial assets of the Group.

Insignificant 7 –  
Property, 
plant and 
equipment

8 –  
Leases

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements
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6.	 FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The following summarises the valuation methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of 
financial instruments reflected in the tables below.

Financial assets at amortised cost
The carrying value of financial assets at amortised cost with a remaining life of less than 12 months reasonably 
approximates fair value due to the short-term period to maturity. The fair value of long-term receivables is 
calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
The carrying value of financial liabilities at amortised cost with a maturity of less than 12 months reasonably 
approximates fair value due to the short-term period to maturity.

Derivative financial instruments
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is based on observable inputs and unobservable inputs, within 
the valuation model, directly linked to the underlying instrument to which the derivative is linked.

Assets and liabilities measured or disclosed at fair value in the statement of financial position are categorised in 
its entirety into the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy based on the basis of the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety:

	– Level 1: fair value measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial assets or 
liabilities

	– Level 2: fair value measured using inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable 
for the financial asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

	– Level 3: fair value measured using inputs for the financial asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data.

For fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the 
financial year-end date. The quoted market price for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. 
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using the quoted forward exchange rates at the 
financial year-end date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value.

The fair value of derivative financial assets (e.g. forward exchange contracts) is based on a level 2 in the fair 
value measurement hierarchy.

The carrying value of non-current financial assets and liabilities at market-related floating rates approximate 
fair value and are classified as level 3.

Where the effects of discounting are immaterial, short-term receivables and short term payables are measured 
at the original invoice amount. Due to the short-term nature of trade receivables and trade payables their 
carrying amounts approximate their fair value.

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements  gg
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7.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2021 2020

Cost
R’000

Accumu-
lated

deprec-
iation
R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost
R’000

Accumu-
lated

deprec-
iation
R’000

Carrying
value

R’000

Buildings 30 525 (916) 29 609 30 525 (611) 29 914
Manufacturing  
equipment 24 123 (16 303) 7 820 20 117 (13 909) 6 208
Plant and machinery 300 (190) 110 300 (163) 137
Furniture and fittings 1 159 (905) 254 2 956 (1 376) 1 580
Motor vehicles 2 545 (2 467) 78 2 753 (2 230) 523
Office equipment 3 986 (2 686) 1 300 3 937 (2 397) 1 540
Computer and electronic 
equipment 4 870 (4 272) 598 10 068 (7 244) 2 824
Leasehold improvements 490 (490) – 759 (654) 105
Tools and lab equipment 2 426 (2 083) 343 4 307 (3 799) 508
Total 70 424 (30 312) 40 112 75 722 (32 383) 43 339

	 Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 

2021

Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000

Classified 
as held
for sale

R’000

Depre-
ciation
R’000

Closing
 balance

R’000

Buildings 29 914 – – (305) 29 609
Manufacturing equipment 6 208 4 016 – (2 404) 7 820
Furniture and fittings 1 580 1 (1 014) (313) 254
Motor vehicles 523 – (52) (393) 78
Office equipment 1 540 154 (57) (337) 1 300
Computer and electronic equipment 2 824 3 174 (3 194) (2 206) 598
Leasehold improvements 105 – – (105) –
Tools and lab equipment 508 7 – (172) 343
Plant and machinery 137 – – (27) 110

43 339 7 352 (4 317) (6 262) 40 112
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2020

Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000

Depre-
ciation
R’000

Closing
 balance

R’000

Buildings 30 220 – – (306) 29 914
Manufacturing equipment 7 700 325 – (1 817) 6 208
Furniture and fittings 1 787 139 (7) (339) 1 580
Motor vehicles 1 576 – (492) (561) 523
Office equipment 1 950 68 – (478) 1 540
Computer and electronic equipment 3 301 1 745 (30) (2 192) 2 824
Leasehold improvements 282 – – (177) 105
Tools and lab equipment 1 390 91 (216) (757) 508
Plant and machinery 249 – (29) (83) 137

48 455 2 368 (774) (6 710) 43 339

	 Property, plant and equipment encumbered as security
�The manufacturing equipment, plant and machinery and motor vehicles with a book value of R6 665 803 
(2020: R5 154 500) serve as security for instalment sale agreements (note 20).

	 Details of properties
The property is situated at 76 Regency drive, Route 21 Corporate Park, Irene, Gauteng. The property serves as 
security for the borrowings as per note 20.

8.	 LEASES (GROUP AS LESSEE)
The Group leases various buildings. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed average periods of between 
three – ten years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. 
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that 
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Extension and termination options are included in some of the building lease agreements across the Group. 
These terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of 
extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessor. 
Management has not accounted for these extension and termination options in determining the lease term. 
Refer to note 4(g) for further information in this regard.

	 Net carrying amounts of right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets are as follows:	

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Buildings 22 695 25 346
IT equipment –* 2 636

22 695 27 982

Additions to right-of-use assets on transition
Buildings – 30 107
IT equipment – 2 345

Additions to right-of-use assets during the year
Buildings 1 922 1 731

1 922 34 183

*	 IT Equipment to the value of R1 486 million has been classified as held for sale (refer to note 18)
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8.	 LEASES (GROUP AS LESSEE) continued
	 Depreciation recognised on right-of-use assets

Depreciation recognised on each class of right-of-use assets, is presented below. It includes depreciation which 
has been expensed in the total depreciation charge in profit or loss (note 29).

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Buildings 4 552 4 762
IT equipment 59 1 439

4 611 6 201

Other disclosures
Interest expense on lease liabilities 2 769 2 807
Leases of low value assets included in operating expenses 3 210 959
Total cash outflow from leases 6 455 6 670
Leases of short-term nature – 2 792

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on 
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months 
or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

	 Leases	
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows:	

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Within one year 4 997 7 262
Two to five years 22 504 20 343
More than five years 10 159 16 004

37 660 43 609
Less finance charges component (10 999) (13 389)

26 661 30 220
Non-current liabilities 24 320 25 698
Current liabilities 2 341 4 522

26 661 30 220
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9.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2021 2020

Cost/
valuation

R’000

Accumu-
lated

amorti-
sation
R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost/
valuation

R’000

Accumu-
lated

amorti-
sation
R’000

Carrying
value

R’000

Customer relationships 
and brands 23 674 (23 674) – 39 913 (29 089) 10 824
Computer software 3 614 (2 956) 658 6 486 (5 749) 737
Goodwill 93 072 (25 171) 67 901 149 272 (25 171) 124 101
Development of 
intellectual property 38 229 (23 024) 15 205 43 401 (23 759) 19 642
Total 158 589 (74 825) 83 764 239 072 (83 768) 155 304

	 Reconciliation of intangible assets 

2021

Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000

Amorti-
sation
R’000

Classified 
as held 
for sale

R’000
Total

R’000

Customer relationships and brands 10 824 – (3 957) (6 867) –
Development of intellectual property 19 642 8 295 (4 990) (7 742) 15 205
Computer software 737 1 160 (692) (547) 658
Goodwill 124 101 – – (56 200) 67 901

155 304 9 455 (9 639) (71 356) 83 764

2020

Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000

Amorti-
sation
R’000

Impair-
ment

loss
R’000

Total
R’000

Customer relationships and brands 18 717 – (7 893) – 10 824
Development of intellectual property 21 464 9 364 (2 771) (8 415) 19 642
Computer software 1 968 295 (1 526) – 737
Goodwill 149 272 – – (25 171) 124 101

191 421 9 659 (12 190) (33 586) 155 304
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9.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued
	 Impairment of intangibles

Management conducts a rigorous review, including the consideration of the possible impact of COVID-19, of 
all products included under intellectual property developed at each reporting date. This involves a detailed 
assessment of the economic viability and prospective sales of these products based on the current information 
as sourced from engagement with possible customers. Following this assessment, only products where the 
future expected margin still exceeded the carrying value are retained as intellectual property developed 
(intangible assets). No impairments were noted in the current year.

As detailed in note 18, a decision was taken by the Etion Board of Directors to dispose of Etion’s shareholding 
in LAWTrust. As a result the goodwill of R56.2 million attributable to the LAWTrust (Cybersecurity) business 
combination has been classified as held for sale at reporting date.

Key assumptions used for the FY2020 value in use calculations are as follows:	

2021
LAWTrust

%

Gross margin 54
Growth rate (average) 7
Discount rate (pre-tax) 19
Terminal growth rate 5

	 Impairment tests for goodwill
Goodwill arose as a result of historical business combinations and is assessed for impairment as follows:

	 Safety and Productivity Solutions Segment
The recoverable amount of the goodwill of R15.059 million in the Safety and Productivity Solutions (SPS) CGU is 
determined based on a value in use calculation relating specifically to the CGU. The calculation used pre-tax 
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the Board covering a three year period. The 
discount rates are pre-tax and reflect the specific risks relating to the relevant segment.

Key assumptions used for these value in use calculations are as follows:

2021
Safety and 

Productivity 
Solutions

%

2020 
Safety and 

Productivity 
Solutions

%

Gross margin 39 43
Growth rate (average) 7 7
Discount rate (pre-tax) 21 24
Terminal growth rate 5 5
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	 Parsec business combination
The goodwill of R78 million arising from the Parsec business combination has historically been allocated to 
the following CGU’s: Digital Network Systems (DNS): R25.2 million; and Original Design Manufacturing (ODM): 
R52.8 million. However, during the previous financial year, the recoverable amount of the goodwill relating to 
the DNS CGU was determined to be lower than the carrying value as at 31 March 2020 and the goodwill was 
impaired in full.

The recoverable amount of the remaining goodwill of R52.8 million due to the Parsec business combination is 
determined based on a value in calculation relating specifically to the ODM CGU. The calculation used pre-tax 
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the Board covering a three year period. Cash 
flows beyond the initial three year period were extrapolated using the estimated growth rate disclosed below 
and is based on the diversification of the customer portfolio and enhancement of the customer base. The 
discount rates are pre-tax and reflect the specific risks relating to the relevant segments. The key assumptions 
used for the value in use calculation are as follows:

DNS** ODM

2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % %

Gross margin – 22 31 33
Growth rate (average) – 11 13 25
Discount rate (pre-tax) – 18 21 22
Terminal growth rate – 5 5 5

	 Sensitivity analysis
Sensitivity analyses were performed to substantiate the recoverable amount of goodwill. Only when the 
discount rate applied in determining the present value of future cash flows was increased or the gross margin 
was dropped, to the values as detailed below, was the goodwill calculated to be impaired:

2021 2020
Discount rate
 increased to

%

Gross margin
decreased to

%

Discount rate 
increased to

%

Gross margin
decreased to

%

SPS –^ (21) 119 (27)
ODM 23 28 36 25
LAWTrust –* – 35 37

*	 No sensitivities as classified as held for sale

**	Fully Impaired as at 31 March 2020
^	 It was determined that the discount rate for FY2021 was not sensitive
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10.	 INTERESTS IN WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

Country of 
incorporation

2021
% holding

2020
% holding

Direct holding
Etion Connect (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100 100
Etion Create (Pty) Ltd South Africa 25 25
Law Trusted Third Party Services (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100 100
Parsec Holdings (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100 100
Quadsoft (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100 100
Redline Telecommunications SA (Pty) Ltd South Africa 20 20
Indirect holding:
Through Parsec Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Parsec Properties (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100 100
Redline Telecommunications SA (Pty) Ltd South Africa 80 80
Optelix (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100 100
Etion Create (Pty) Ltd South Africa 75 75

11.	 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE
The Group holds 50% ownership interest in Electronic DNA Proprietary Limited, which principle place of 
business is South Africa. The joint venture is accounted for on the equity method. This investment is not 
considered to be a material joint venture in the Group.

	 Joint venture
The following table lists the joint venture in the Group

2021 2020 2021 2020

Name of company
% ownership

 interest
% ownership

interest
Carrying 
amount

Carrying
amount

Electronic DNA  
(Pty) Ltd 50.00 50.00 – 240

– 240

The investment had been classified as non-current asset held for sale, refer to note 18.

Summarised financial information as of 31 March 2021 as extracted from the management accounts of the joint 
venture is set out below:
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Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income	

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Revenue 8 189 6 854
Personnel expenses (5 117) (4 960)
Depreciation (105) (621)
Other income and expenses (1 036) (483)
Interest expense 299 262
Profit before tax 2 230 1 052
Tax expense (618) 189
Total comprehensive income 1 612 1 241

	 Summarised statement of financial position at 31 March

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Assets
Non-current 1 649 358 
Current
Cash and cash equivalents 11 481 6 321
Other current assets 2 825 3 762
Total current assets 14 306 10 083
Liabilities
Current
Loan from joint shareholders 4 700 4 700
Other current liabilities 8 006 5 263
Total current liabilities 12 706 9 963
Total net assets 3 249 478

The summarised information presented above reflects the financial statements of the joint venture.
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12. 	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Deferred income tax liabilities
Prepayments – (2 288)
Contract assets (572) –
Right-of-use assets (6 355) (7 461)
Intangible assets (3 369) (7 846)
Property, plant and equipment (4 074) (3 488)
Total deferred tax liability (14 370) (21 083)
Deferred income tax asset
Provisions and accruals 4 095 6 802
Prepayments received 1 108 –
Lease liabilities 7 465 8 067
Provision for fleet defect 728 728
Contract liabilities – 2 871
Calculated tax loss 31 164 32 822
Total deferred tax asset 44 560 51 290
Deferred tax liability (14 370) (21 083)
Deferred tax asset 44 560 51 290
Total net deferred tax asset 30 190 30 207

Provisions 
and 

accruals
R’000

Pre-
payments

received
R’000

Lease
liabilities

R’000

Provision 
for fleet 
defects

R’000

Calculated
tax loss

R’000

Contract
liabilities

R’000
Total

R’000

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax 
movements
At 1 April 2019 4 991 – 914 529 16 363 2 986 25 783
Charged/(credited) 
– to profit and loss 1 811 – 7 153 199 16 459 (115) 25 507
At 31 March 2020 6 802 – 8 067 728 32 822 2 871 51 290
At 1 April 2020 6 802 – 8 067 728 32 822 2 871 51 290
Charged/(credited) 
– to profit and loss 336 1 563 (126) – (1 658) 1 540 1 655
– �Reclassified as a 

result of movement 
from deferred tax 
asset – (2 288) – – – – (2 288)

– �Reclassified as held 
for sale (3 043) 1 833 (476) – – (4 411) (6 097)

At 31 March 2021 4 095 1 108 7 465 728 31 164 – 44 560
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Right- 
of-use 
assets
R’000

Pre-
payments

R’000

Intangible
 assets
R’000

Property, 
plant and 
equipment

R’000

Contract 
assets
R’000

Retention
 debtors

R’000
Total

R’000

Deferred tax 
liabilities
Deferred tax 
movements
At 1 April 2019 – (1 044) (9 604) (2 847) (631) (12) (14 138)
(Charged)/credited 
– to profit and loss (6 889) (1 244) 1 758 (641) 631 12 (6 373)
– �to impact on 

adoption of new 
standards (572) – – – – – (572)

At 31 March 2020 (7 461) (2 288) (7 846) (3 488) – – (21 083)
At 1 April 2020 (7 461) (2 288) (7 846) (3 488) – – (21 083)
(Charged)/credited 
– to profit and loss 690 – 349 (676) (572) – (209)
– �reclassification as a 

result of movement 
to deferred tax 
liability – 2 288 – – – – 2 288

– �Reclassified as held 
for sale 416 – 4 128 90 – – 4 634

At 31 March 2021 (6 355) – (3 369) (4 074) (572) – (14 370)

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset/(liability)
At beginning of year 30 207 11 645
Adjustment due to adoption of new standards – (572)
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive Income 
charge 1 446 19 134
Transfer to non-current asset held for sale (1 463) –
At the end of the year 30 190 30 207
The amounts are expected to be recovered and settled  
as follows:
Deferred tax asset
– No more than 12 months after the reporting period 7 863 10 634
– More than 12 months after the reporting period 38 261 34 306
Deferred tax liabilities
– No more than 12 months after the reporting period (2 702) (1 705)
– More than 12 months after the reporting period (13 232) (13 028)

30 190 30 207

Management has reviewed the three-year financial plan used as a basis for assessing the recoverability of 
goodwill in Etion Limited, the SPS segment and based on the forecasted average revenue growth of 7% over a 
period of three years and royalty income to be earned from the repurposing of internally generated intellectual 
property, consider it probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses of 
(R22 965 000) may be used. Furthermore, taxable capital gains anticipated from the disposal of LAWTrust will 
also be available for utilisation against the tax losses and therefore management continues to consider it 
probable that the related deferred tax asset can be realised.
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12. 	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) continued
The Group has tax losses of R8,198,000 in the DNS and ODM segment that are available indefinitely for 
offsetting against future taxable profits of the company in which the losses arose. Both the ODM and DNS 
businesses have recorded an improved performance in the current financial year, thereby allowing for the 
partial utilisation of historic losses. Similarly to the approach followed in respect to the tax losses recorded in 
Etion Limited, management has reviewed the three-year financial plan of these businesses and based on the 
forecasted average revenue growth over a period of three years consider it probable that the deferred assets 
will be recoverable using the estimated future taxable income to be earned by these subsidiaries. The 
subsidiaries expected to generate taxable income going forward.

The amounts disclosed in the statement of financial position represent the net deferred tax position of the 
underlying legal entities and are as follows:

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Estimated current portion of net deferred tax asset 28 681 9 057
Estimated non-current portion of net deferred tax asset 5 769 26 944

34 450 36 001

Estimated current portion of net deferred tax liabilities (2 113) (1 604)
Estimated non-current portion of net deferred tax liabilities (2 147) (4 190)

(4 260) (5 794)

The Minister of Finance announced the change in the corporate tax rate from 28% to 27% for years of 
assessment commencing on or after 1 April 2022 in the Budget Speech on 24 February 2021. The changes to 
tax rates and tax laws are intended to be done in a tax revenue-neutral manner. Thus, any benefit derived from 
the reduction in the corporate tax rate is intended to be offset by limitations placed on interest deductions and 
the use of assessed income tax losses and other proposed changes.

As deferred tax is raised at enacted or substantively enacted tax rates at the end of the reporting period and 
are expected to apply when the deferred tax assets/liabilities are recovered/settled management applied 
significant judgement in assessing whether the communicated change in the corporate tax rate can be 
viewed to be substantively enacted (refer Note 4 (i)).

Given that a significant degree of uncertainty exists as to whether the announcement of the change in tax rate 
can be considered substantively enacted, management considers the change in tax rate not to be 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.
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13. 	 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSET

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Interest free borrowings
Tau Di A Rora Technologies CC 993 975

This loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no fixed term of repayment. The loan was made as part of the 
Group’s BBBEE Enterprise and Supplier development program and is intended to assist in building sustainable 
and profitable suppliers that would be in a position to repay the loans at a later stage. It is anticipated that this 
repayment will not materialise within the next 12 month period and hence the loans are classified as non-
current.

The loan extended to Tau Di A Rora Technologies CC is subject to the impairment provisions of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments, which requires a loss allowance to be recognised for all exposures to credit risk. The loss allowance 
for the loan receivable is calculated based on 12 month expected credit losses under the general model. The 
loss allowance is updated at each reporting date based on changes in the credit risk since initial recognition. 
If a loan is considered to have a low credit risk at the reporting date, then it is assumed that the credit risk has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Management has performed an assessment of the recoverability the loan extended to Tau Di A Rora 
Technologies CC at reporting date and has determined that the credit risk on the financial asset has reduced 
since initial recognition. As such the Group has raised a loss allowance of 1.65% (2020:3.15%) against the loan but 
will continue to monitor the credit risk associated with the asset and take further action to impair if appropriate.

2021

Gross
loan

R’000

Expected
credit loss

R’000
Net loan

R’000

Loan to Tau Di A Rora Technologies CC 1 010 (17) 993

2020

Gross
loan

R’000

Expected
credit loss

R’000
Net loan

R’000

Loan to Tau Di A Rora Technologies CC 1 010 (35) 975

14. 	 INVENTORIES

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Raw materials 386 –
Work in progress – 139
Finished goods 49 555 55 344

49 941 55 483
Allowance for slow moving inventories (2 479) (142)

47 462 55 341

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost of sales amounted to R271.3 million  
(2020: R204.5 million).
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15.	 LOANS TO GROUP COMPANIES
	 Joint venture

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Electronic DNA Proprietary Limited* – 2 304

*	 Reclassified to Non-current assets held for sale. Refer to note 18

The loan is unsecured, interest free and is repayable on demand.		

The loan is subordinated in favour of all other creditors until such time that the assets fairly valued exceed the 
liabilities.

	 Split between non-current and current portions

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Current assets – 2 304

	 Exposure to credit risk
Loans receivable inherently expose the Group to credit risk, being the risk that the Group will incur financial 
loss if counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due.

Loans receivable are subject to the impairment provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which requires a 
loss allowance to be recognised for all exposures to credit risk. The loss allowance for group loans receivable is 
calculated based on 12 month expected credit losses under the general model. The loss allowance is updated 
at each reporting date based on changes in the credit risk since initial recognition. If a loan is considered to 
have a low credit risk at the reporting date, then it is assumed that the credit risk has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition.

Loans to related company was valued based on the risk of the counter-party. The Moody’s RiskCalc solution 
was used to calculate a historic loss rate for the counterparty. The Moody’s RiskCalc solution compares 
company financial information to an extensive database of company financial and default information. The 
inputs into this were the historical audited financial statements of the counter-party or where applicable more 
recent management accounts where considered appropriate. The historical loss rate is converted into a 
forward-looking measure of an ECL using Moody’s Analytics credit models, which incorporates their macro-
economic estimates and scenarios. Refer to note 4(b) for the critical estimates and judgements applied in 
this regard.

Where loans have no fixed terms of repayment and it is the intention of the lender to provide sufficient support 
to ensure that the loan can be repaid in the normal course of business (there is no intent to demand 
repayment until the entity has sufficient resources to make the repayment) as is the case for the loan to 
Electronic DNA Proprietary Limited, it is possible to consider a loan as being in Stage 1 even where the absolute 
PD is high. Where loans are regarded as Stage 2 or Stage 3, lifetime Expected Credit Losses should be applied. 
Where the term of the loan is less than one year, there will be no difference in the ECL between a Stage 1 and 
Stage 2 loan.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the gross carrying amount of the loans. The Group does not hold 
collateral or other credit enhancements against group loans receivable.

The loan to Electronic DNA Proprietary Limited was subordinated on 18 September 2018 after the loan was 
issued, therefore indicating a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The loan is thus 
classified as Stage 2 with lifetime Expected Credit Losses being applied in the previous financial year.
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	 Credit loss allowances

2020

Gross
loan

R’000

Expected
credit loss

R’000
Net loan

R’000

Total credit loss allowance
Loan to joint venture 2 350 (46) 2 304

16.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Financial instruments:
Trade receivables 124 128 122 534
Loss allowance (6 798) (18 433)
Trade receivables at amortised cost 117 330 104 101
Deposits 1 133 1 033
Other receivables 4 316
Sundry debtors 650 1 075
Non-financial instruments:

Receiver of Revenue – VAT 6 233 16
Employee costs in advance 25 195
Prepayments 3 624 11 722
Total trade and other receivables 128 999 118 458

Split between non-current and current portions

Current assets 128 999 118 458

Categorisation of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are categorised as follows in 
accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments:  
At amortised cost 119 117 106 525

Non-financial instruments 9 882 11 933

128 999 118 458
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16.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued
The fair values of trade and other receivables approximate the carrying amount due to the short-term nature of 
the receivables.

Refer to note 3 for trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies. 

Debtors serve as security for the Group’s overdraft facilities (note 17). 

	 Exposure to credit risk
Trade receivables inherently expose the Group to credit risk, being the risk that the Group will incur financial 
loss if customers fail to make payments as they fall due.

A loss allowance is recognised for all trade receivables, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and is 
monitored at the end of each reporting period. In addition to the loss allowance, trade receivables are written 
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, for example, when a debtor has been placed under 
liquidation.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach in measuring expected credit losses (ECL) on trade and other 
receivables, which requires a lifetime loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, the trade 
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and into common ageing buckets.

The ECL rates are calculated based on historical default rates (default rate multiplied by loss given default rate) 
over a 5 year period. Default rates are calculated on the proportion of balances from each ageing bucket that 
age past 90 days. Loss given default rates include actual amounts written-off and all balances at year-end that 
have been in default for more than 6 months. The resultant rates are benchmarked to downside loss given 
default rate estimates in the SA economy.

The default rates per ageing bucket multiplied by the overall loss given default rate provides the through-the-
cycle loss rates.

These historical loss rates are converted into a forward-looking measure of an ECL using Moody’s Analytics 
credit models, which incorporates their macro-economic estimates and scenarios. This is added as an 
economic overlay. Refer to 4(b) for the critical estimates and judgements.

An ECL rate is calculated for each ageing bucket in each business unit.

The outcome of this process results in an increase of between 1.2x (2020: 1.7x) and 1.6x (2020: 2.6x) in converting 
historical loss rates to ECLs.

Material exposures with different credit risk characteristics are measured separately. The likelihood of a default 
occurring, and resultant loss, is determined using credit risk ratings (where available) or Moody’s Analytics risk 
models which measure credit risk based on the customer’s credit default information. Suitable forward looking 
information is incorporated as an economic overlay.

Management may make further adjustments to the ECL to take into account specific event risk where there is 
uncertainty in respect to the model’s ability to capture conditions due to inherent limitations of modelling. This 
is done by way of an additional management overlay via post model adjustments made. In the current year 
additional adjustments were made for certain debtors in which there is an increased credit risk that was not 
adequately catered for by the model. Changes to the credit risk of these debtors are assessed based on the 
industry in which the customers operates as well as reviewing various media platforms and customer 
communications received to ascertain whether there are any matters that may negatively impact certain 
debtors’ ability to pay.

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements
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2021

Statement 
of financial 

position
R’000

Measurement
approach

Judgemental
ECL before

forward
adjustment

%

Conversion
to forward

looking ECL
%

ECL
R’000

Net
R’000

Digital Network 
Systems (DNS):
Etion Connect
Current 11 203 Empirical 

historical data 
with economic 
overlay

0.72 1.11 (124) 11 079
30 days 5 645 1.03 1.52 (86) 5 559
60 days 2 123 2.10 3.17 (67) 2 056
90+ days 1 610 6.36 8.12 (131) 1 479
South African Trade 
Receivables with 
specific exposure 38 124 Rating Ba2 0.67 0.97 (270) 37 854
Total 58 705 10.88 14.89 (678) 58 027
Original Design 
Manufacturing:
Etion Create
Current 37 780 Empirical 

historical data 
with economic 
overlay 

0.90 1.37 (518) 37 262
30 days 1 096 1.77 2.76 (30) 1 066
60 days 1 757 4.03 6.76 (119) 1 638

90+ days 45 7.53 10.09 (5) 40
Specific Material 
Debtor 3 055 PD and LGD 10.85 13.85 (423) 2 633
Specific Material 
– specific risk; 
judgemental 
overlay applied 18 392

Judgemental 
management 
overlay – 27.00 (4 966) 13 426

Total 62 125 25.08 61.83 (6 061) 56 065
Safety and 
Productivity 
Solutions (SPS): 
Etion Digitise
Current 380 Empirical 

historical data 
with economic 
overlay 

0.39 0.52 (2) 378

Specific exposure 2 081 0.77 2.76 (57) 2 024
Total 2 461 1.16 3.28 (59) 2 402
Total 123 291 (6 798) 116 494

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements  gg
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16.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued
	 Trade receivables – expected credit loss result 2020 

Statement 
of financial

 position
R’000

Measurement
approach

Judgemental
ECL before

forward
adjustment

%

Conversion
to forward

looking ECL
%

ECL
R’000

Net
R’000

Digital Network 
Systems (DNS):
Etion Connect
Current 5 852 Empirical 

historical data 
with economic 
overlay

0.71 1.72 (253) 5 599
30 days 8 496 1.25 2.89 (246) 8 251
60 days 1 246 3.02 6.96 (87) 1 159
90+ days 8 211 8.63 14.91 (1 224) 6 987
Total 23 805 13.61 26.48 (1 810) 21 996
Cyber security:  
Etion Secure
Current 37 626 Empirical 

historical data 
with economic 
overlay 

0.50 1.30 (522) 37 104

30 days 9 542 1.18 2.92 (279) 9 264
60 days 1 219 2.82 7.12 (87) 1 132

90+ days 239 5.39 10.22 (24) 215
Specific debtors-
foreign exposure 2 681 Moody Risk Calc 0.13 (3) 2 678
Total 51 307 9.89 21.69 (915) 50 393
Original Design 
Manufacturing: Etion 
Create
Current 17 732 Empirical 

historical data 
with economic 
overlay 
 

1.12 2.72 (482) 17 250
30 days 3 511 1.99 4.86 (171) 3 340
60 days 1 082 3.78 9.50 (103) 979

90+ days 363 6.11 11.27 (41) 322
Specific material 9 212 Moody Risk Calc 6.00 24.39 (2 247) 6 966
Total 31 900 19.00 52.74 (3 044) 28 857
Safety and 
Productivity Solutions 
(SPS): Etion Digitise
Specific exposure 2 841 Specific provision 

based on 
management 
judgement

0.39 0.52 (14) 2 826

Specific exposure – 
credit impaired 12 650 100.00 100.00 (12 650) –

Total 15 491 100.39 100.52 (12 664) 2 826
Total 122 503 (18 433) 104 072
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	 Reconciliation of loss allowances
The following table shows the movement in the loss allowance (lifetime expected credit losses) for trade and 
other receivables:

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Opening balance in accordance with IFRS 9 (18 433) (9 062)
Allowance for expected credit losses raised on trade receivables (4 966) (10 658)
Allowance for expected credit losses reversed on settled  
trade receivables 3 045 1 287
Transfer to assets held for sale 915 –
Receivables written off 12 650 –
Closing balance (6 789) (18 433)

The trade receivable that was specifically provided for in full in the prior year was written off in the current year 
(R12.650 million). The debtor has been put under liquidation and management does not expect to recover any 
amount from this debtor.

The ECL provision was impacted by a decrease in the gross carrying amount of R51.307 million due to the 
reclassification to assets held for sale and write off of R12.650 million. This is partially offset by increase in the 
gross carrying amount of R55.031 million attributable to new customers.

If a 100% probability was applied to each of the base case, S1 and S3 economic scenarios the impact on ECL is 
as follows for each business unit:

Etion Secure Etion Connect Etion Create

2021*
 %

2020
%

2021
 %

2020
%

2021
 %

2020
%

Base case – (1.00) (9.00) (1.00) (13.00) (1.00)
S1 – (12.00) (23.00) (8.00) (31.00) (11.00)
S3 – 14.00 36.00 9.00 48.00 13.00 

Etion Digitise has not been included in the sensitivity analysis detailed above as the trade receivables balance 
is insignificant and therefore the impact on the ECL would be immaterial.

*	 No sensitivities performed as classified as held for sale
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17.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Cash on hand 20 44
Bank balances 57 602 80 175
Short-term deposits – 2 263
Credit card 182 196
Bank overdraft (51) (72)

57 753 82 606
Current assets 57 804 82 678
Current liabilities (51) (72)

57 753 82 606

Refer to note 3 for bank accounts denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group has banking facilities which are secured by the cession of debtors of the Etion Connect, Etion Create 
and LAWTrust who make use of the facilities (note 16). Overdraft facilities across the Group are limited to 33% of 
the debtor balance excluding intercompany balances and long outstanding balances greater than 120 days.

The extent of the Group’s facilities with their bankers can be summarised as follows:

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Overdraft facility 30 000 40 000
Corporate credit cards and fleet services cards 600 1 050
Combined Letter of Guarantee and Forward Exchange Cover 
facility 5 000 7 350
Vehicle asset finance facility 6 949 4 674

42 549 53 074

18.	� DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS OR DISPOSAL GROUPS OR NON-CURRENT 
ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
During the current financial year the Board embarked on a programme to market and dispose of the 
LAWTrust business with numerous engagements taking place between various interested parties and Etion 
in respect of the potential acquisition of the subsidiary. A formal process to govern the sale of LAWTrust was 
instituted in September with numerous bids being received and considered. Final binding offers were received 
in December 2020 whereafter a preferred bidder was selected, and further negotiations undertaken. The 
Board approved the transaction and sale and purchase agreement as at 29 March 2021.

As at 29 March 2021, following the approval of the transaction, and consideration of the principles and criteria 
related to IFRS 5 – Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, the Group 
reclassified its investment in the underlying assets and liabilities of LAWTrust to disposal groups or non-current 
assets held for sale. As LAWTrust represents a separate major line of business, their results are presented as a 
discontinued operation in the statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, including the 
re-presentation of the comparative FY2020 financial information. The sale is expected to take effect in the next 
financial year.



73

ETION Annual Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements  gg

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Profit and loss
Revenue 272 850 225 893
Cost of sales (122 023) (111 611)
Gross profit 150 827 114 282
Other operating income 6 434 4 902
Operating gains 334 1 008
Movement in credit losses 339 (331)
Other operating expenses (83 926) (70 308)
Operating profit 74 008 49 553
Investment income 487 426
Finance costs (846) (490)
Income from equity accounted investments 806 240
Profit before taxation 74 455 49 729
Taxation (18 168) (11 088)
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 56 287 38 641
Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets held for sale
Property, plant and equipment 4 317 –
Assets of disposal groups
Right-of-use assets 1 486 –
Intangible assets 71 356 –
Investment in joint venture 1 046 –
Loans to related company 2 350 –
Trade and other receivables 33 913 –
Deferred tax asset 1 463 –
Inventories 514 –
Cash and cash equivalents 62 635 –

174 763 –
179 080 –

Liabilities of disposal groups
Trade and other payables 26 432 –
Other financial liability 83 –
Lease liabilities 1 700 –
Contract liabilities 15 754 –
Current tax payable 2 894 –

46 863 –
Cash flows
Net cash inflow from operating activities 63 821 24 673
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities 9 152 (9 429)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (38 821) (1 437)

34 152 13 807
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19.	 SHARE CAPITAL

2021 2020

Authorised
1 725 490 496 authorised ordinary no par value shares

Issued
564 411 033 ordinary no par value shares 259 541 259 541

The shares have no par value and the issued shares are fully paid. Each issued share has one voting right and 
there are no restrictions.

On 05 October 2020 an ordinary resolution was passed by way of general authority, to issue all or any of the 
authorised but unissued shares in the capital of the Company for cash, subject to the Memorandum of 
Incorporation of the Company, the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and the JSE Limited Listing 
Requirements, when applicable.

20.	 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Minimum payments due
– within one year 2 674 2 770
– in second to fifth year inclusive 3 451 1 163

6 125 3 933
less: future finance charges (723) (283)
Present value of minimum payments 5 402 3 650
Present value of minimum payments due
– within one year 2 364 2 525
– in second to fifth year inclusive 3 038 1 125

5 402 3 650

The instalment sale agreements bear interest at prime and are 
repayable in average monthly instalments of R272 915 (2020: 
R233 499) over an average period of 60 months.

Secured by: Plant and equipment and motor vehicles with  
a book value of 6 666 5 155
The interest rate exposure of borrowings of the Group is as follows:

Instalment sale agreement
At floating rates (average %) 7.50% 9.67%
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2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Property loan: Senior debt
Minimum payments due
– no later than one year 4 466 4 135
– later than one year and no later than five years 30 598 35 064
less: future finance charges (6 849) (9 944)
Present value of minimum payments 28 215 29 255
Present value of minimum payments
– no later than one year 1 495 1 041
– later than one year and no later than five years 26 719 28 214

28 214 29 255
Secured by: Property situated at 76 Regency Drive, Route 21 
Corporate Park with a book value of: 29 914 29 914
The interest rate exposure of borrowings of the Group is as follows:

Senior debt loan agreement
At fixed rate % 10.76% 10.76%
This property loan is repayable in average monthly instalments of 
R391 035 with a lump sum of R24 114 607 payable at the end of  
the 5 year period.

COVID-19 Relief loan
Minimum lease payments due
– within one year 362 –
– in second to fifth year inclusive 514 –

876 –
less: future finance charges (63) –
Present value of minimum lease payments 813 –
Present value of minimum lease payments due
– within one year 322 –
– in second to fifth year inclusive 491 –

813 –

During the current financial year, the Group received a three month repayment holiday in respect to the 
property loan facility in Parsec Properties as part of the COVID-19 relief initiatives. The extension of credit over 
the three month period was granted on the basis of a variable interest rate of prime less 1%. As the property 
loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 10,76% a new facility was initiated to facilitate the arrangement. This 
resulted in the institution of a COVID-19 relief loan facility with Nedbank to be financed for a period of 3.25 years 
at an interest rate of prime less 1%.
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20.	 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS continued

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

COVID-19 relief loan
At variable rate % 6.00% –
Nedbank Loan
Minimum payments due
– no later than one year 11 255 11 514
– later than one year and no later than five years 16 881 25 907
less: future finance charges (2 320) (5 333)
Present value of minimum payments 25 816 32 088
Present value of minimum payments
– no later than one year 9 770 9 842
– later than one year and no later than five years 16 046 22 246

25 816 32 088

The loan bears interest at prime plus 0.25% and is repayable in monthly instalments of R937 857  
(2020: R961 713) over a period of 60 months.

Secured by: Limited deeds of cross-suretyship, for the amount of R112 million total group facility in favour of 
Nedbank between Etion Limited, Etion Connect (Pty) Ltd, Etion Create (Pty) Ltd and Law Trusted Third Party 
Services (Pty) Ltd. A security cession of all present and future debtors.

The interest rate exposure of borrowings of the Group is as follows:

2021
%

2020
%

Nedbank loan
Senior debt loan – at variable rate (prime) 7.25 9.00

The following financial covenants must be met in respect to the Nedbank loan:

	– Interest bearing debt ratio to Tangible Net Worth: not more than 1.75
	– Annual cash-to-debt-service-cover breach: not less than 1.30
	– Cumulative cash-to-debt service ratio: not less than 1.80

Based on the Nedbank covenant compliance review conducted by management as at 30 September 2020, 
the Group was compliant with its covenants under the Nedbank loan facility. This was confirmed by the bank 
during the annual credit review cycle.
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The Group has continued to monitor its compliance with the covenants related to the Nedbank loan facility as 
part of its risk management procedures. It is Etion’s intention that a portion of the net proceeds to be received 
from the disposal of LAWTrust be used to settle any third party debt held by the Group. Management is 
currently in discussions with Nedbank to facilitate this arrangement and as the medium-term loan will be 
settled as part of this process, the related covenants will fall away and the Group will not be subject to a 
covenant compliance review by Nedbank for the current year as at 30 September 2021. This process is in an 
advanced stage with management awaiting formal confirmation from Nedbank in this regard.

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Total liability 13 953 13 408
Current liability 46 293 51 585
Non-current liability 60 246 64 993

21.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Financial instruments:
Trade payables 85 156 80 845
Accrued expenses 10 039 17 972
Sundry creditors 346 201

Non-financial instruments:

Leave accrual 1 099 9 673
Receiver of Revenue – VAT 1 971 7 738

98 611 116 429

	 Exposure to interest rate risk
Trade and other payables are settled in South African Rand except where the payable is denominated in a 
foreign currency. Refer to note 3 for the outstanding liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year-end.
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22.	 CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Contract liabilities relating to sale of design, development and 
project services (10 647) (6 334)
Contract liabilities relating to support and maintenance services – (10 252)
Contract liability relating to sale of finished goods (7 903) –

(18 550) (16 586)
Split between non-current and current portions
Non-current liabilities – (355)
Current liabilities (18 550) (16 231)
Total contract liabilities (18 550) (16 586)
Current assets – current
Contract assets relating to sale of design, development  
and project services 21 060 18 819
Expected credit losses on contract assets (335) (828)

20 725 17 991

	 (i) Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities
Contract assets relate to work performed and material procured on a number of contracts that were still in the 
process of being completed at year-end.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all contract assets. To measure the expected credit losses contract assets have 
been grouped based on the customer projects to which they relate. The contract assets relate to unbilled work 
in progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of 
projects/contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables (as 
detailed in note 16) to which the contract assets relate are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the 
contract assets. The expected loss rates have reduced when compared to the prior year and have thus resulted 
in a decrease in the expected credit losses on contract assets. The aging profile of contract assets are current.

The Group has therefore recognised a loss allowance for contract assets of R0.335 million (2020: R0.827 million).

Contract liabilities have increased to that of the prior year due to new project installations and service level 
agreements initiated during the 2021 financial year. The advanced consideration received from customers is 
recognised as revenue in profit and loss on a systematic basis over the remainder of the contract in terms of 
services rendered and goods sold.

Contract liabilities related to the sale of finished goods consists of a volume rebate for a bulk deal with a 
specific customer. The rebate is calculated based on certain sales thresholds and is only due to the customer 
upon reaching these thresholds. The contract liability as at 31 March 2021 is R7.9 million (2020: Rnil). The 
contract liability is expected to realise during 2022 financial year.

.
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	 (ii) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period relates to 
carried-forward contract liabilities (and how much relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in a 
prior year).

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period:

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Revenue recognised over time 6 334 15 108

	 (iii) Unsatisfied contracts
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from unsatisfied contracts:

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to design, 
development and project services contracts that are partially or 
fully unsatisfied as at 31 March 10 647 16 586

All other contracts are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction price 
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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23.	 PROVISIONS
	 Reconciliation of provisions 	

2021

Opening
 balance

R’000
Total

R’000

Provision for product fleet defect 2 600 2 600

2020

Opening
 balance

R’000

Provisions
raised
R’000

Utilised 
during

the year
R’000

Total
R’000

Provision for product fleet defect 1 133 1 467 – 2 600
Provision for warranty 757 – (757) –

1 890 1 467 (757) 2 600

	 Provision for warranty
The provision for warranty claims on products sold and delivered was calculated on a project specific basis as 
the revenue on the product are recognised. A 3 – 7 % failure rate and the estimated production and material 
cost was used to calculate the provision. The warranty claim is valid for a 12 month period.

Information that is typically considered is whether there is back-to-back warranty cover from the supplier on 
the products as well as material failure rate from historic information. There were no warranty provisions at the 
end of the current financial year (2020: Rnil).

	 Provision for product fleet defect
The Group’s performance in the prior years were negatively impacted by a fleet defect at one of the Company’s 
rail clients. The process to replace the units with an internally designed and manufactured unit has 
commenced and is expected to be completed in the next year. There has been no movement in this provision 
for the current financial year.

In the prior year the amounts for provision for fleet defect and provision for warranty were incorrectly classified 
and have been corrected in the current year. This does not have a material impact to the financial statements.

24.	 TAX PAID	

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Balance at beginning of the year 4 708 6 596
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (20 643) (12 272)
Subsidiary acquired during the year (3 008) (4 708)
Balance at end of the year 2 894 –

(16 049) (10 384)
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25.	 REVENUE

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Sale of finished goods 204 681 188 658
Sale of goods manufactured 167 336 104 540
Sale of design, development and project services 41 840 50 800
Sale of licenses – 700
Sale of network installation services 3 200 2 298
Support and maintenance services 2 212 –

419 269 346 996
Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time
Sale of finished goods 204 681 188 658
Sale of goods manufactured 167 336 104 540
Sale of licences – 700

372 017 293 898
Over time
Sale of design, development and project services 41 840 50 800
Sale of network installation services 3 200 2 298
Support and maintenance services 2 212 –

47 252 53 098
Total revenue from contracts with customers 419 269 346 996

26.	 COST OF SALES

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Sale of design, development and project services 45 074 44 691
Sale of finished goods 169 914 146 487
Sale of goods manufactured 113 097 61 589
Sale of licences – 601
Sale of network installation services 2 746 1 760
Write down of inventories to net realisable value 2 842 13 010

333 673 268 138

27.	 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Sundry income 1 274 223
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28.	 OTHER OPERATING LOSSES

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Foreign exchange gains (losses)
Fair value gains: realised 13 981 2 037
Fair value gains: unrealised – –
Fair value losses: realised (4 940) (1 725)
Fair value losses: unrealised (93) (7 581)

8 948 (7 269)

29. 	 EXPENSES BY NATURE

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Advertising and marketing 1 057 824
Amortisation 4 463 11 313
BBBEE-related expenses 2 224 1 742
Impairment of intangible assets – 33 586
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 4 611 4 641
Depreciation 4 556 5 293
Donations 1 10
Employee benefit expense 108 838 110 434
Entertainment 118 320
Hedging costs 755 619
Installation and subcontractor costs 1 434 3 089
Insurance 1 446 1 592
Motor vehicle expenses 453 701
Movement in inventory 6 666 22 117
Rentals and municipal costs 5 765 1 139
Other expenses 6 250 (2 535)
Write down of inventories to net realisable value 2 674 13 010
Personnel cost – training 811 1 382
Professional and computer services and costs 13 229 1 145
Project-related travel and wages – 516
Purchases of raw materials and consumables used 252 045 195 338
Repairs and maintenance expenditure 2 975 1 609
Research costs – 107
Skills Development Levy 559 588
Subscriptions 1 083 1 846
Travel and accommodation – Local 140 1 766
Travel and accommodation – overseas 369 –

422 522 412 192
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30. 	 EMPLOYEE COSTS

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Employee costs
Salary and wages 91 001 90 922
Directors’ and prescribed officers remuneration 17 837 19 512
Total employee benefit expense 108 838 110 434
Post-retirement benefit: defined contribution plan  
(included in employee benefits above) contributions 7 971 13 137
Number of employees at the end of the year 281 311

31.	 FINANCE INCOME		

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Bank 373 2 292

32. 	 FINANCE COSTS INCURRED

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Interest-bearing borrowings 5 698 7 519
Bank overdraft 68 392
Tax authorities – 2
Lease liabilities 2 679 2 540
Other 112 282
Total finance costs 8 557 10 735

The Group has chosen to present interest paid on the Nedbank loan as financing cash flows, all other interest 
on interest bearing borrowings as operating cash flows. This distinction is based on the underlying nature and 
purpose of the borrowing. This is applied consistently on an annual basis.
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33.	 TAXATION

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Major components of the tax expense (income)
Current
Local income tax – current period 20 643 12 241
Local income tax – recognised in current tax for prior periods – 31

20 643 12 272
Deferred
Originating and reversing temporary differences (1 348) (19 134)
Originating and reversing temporary differences – prior year (98) –

(1 446) (19 134)
19 197 (6 862)

	 Reconciliation of the tax expense
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax 
rate of South Africa as follows:

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Accounting loss from continuing operations (2 634) (92 720)
Accounting profit from discontinued operations 74 455 49 729

71 821 (42 991)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2020: 28%) 20 110 (12 037)
Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Donations, fines and penalties 317 40
Other expenses not deductible 247 99
Learnership allowances (631) (2 478)
Impairment of goodwill – 7 048
Section 11D allowances (619) (148)
Security Transfer Tax – 221
Prior period amounts not allowed on assessment – 362
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years – 31
Income from associate (226) –

19 198 (6 862)
The tax expense/(income) is disclosed as follows:
Continuing operations 1 030 (17 950)
Discontinued operations 18 168 11 088

19 198 (6 862)

The estimated tax loss available for set off against future taxable income is R112 760 520 (2020: R117 223 000).
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34.	 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Loss before taxation from continuous operations (2 634) (92 719)
Profit before tax from discontinued operations 74 455 49 729
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 22 252 25 101
Interest income (860) (2 718)
Finance costs paid 9 403 11 225
Increase/decrease) in allowance for slow moving and  
obsolete raw materials 2 337 (3 404)
Increase in provision for impairment of trade receivables 1 637 9 371
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment – 8
Income from equity accounted investments (806) (240)
Increase in provisions – 710
Unrealised foreign exchange differences – cash and bank 
equivalents (3 341) (2 534)
Unrealised foreign exchange differences – debtors 93 (392)
Unrealised foreign exchange differences – trade creditors (1 450) 9 500
Inventory write down (net of salvage value) – 13 010
Impairment of intangible assets – 33 586
Increase/(decrease) in provision for impairment of financial assets (557) 887
Changes in working capital:
Inventories 5 028 22 642
Trade and other receivables (46 184) 36 193
Contract assets (2 241) 108
Trade and other payables 10 063 (23 221)

Contract liabilities 17 718 1 394
84 913 88 236
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35.	 NET DEBT RECONCILIATION

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Net debt
Cash and cash equivalents 57 753 82 606
Borrowings (60 246) (64 993)
Lease liabilities (26 661) (30 220)
Net debt (29 154) (12 607)

Cash and
cash 

equivalents
R’000

Lease 
liabilities

R’000
Borrowings

R’000
Total

R’000

Net debt as at 1 April 2020 82 606 (30 220) (64 993) (12 607)
Cash flows – Other 34 441 4 409 4 747 43 597
Cash flows – Interest paid – 2 972 5 698 8 670
Non-cash – Interest capitalised – (2 972) (5 698) (8 670)
Non-cash – Right-of-use assets recognised – (2 548) – (2 548)
Cash flows – Foreign exchange adjustment 3 341 – – 3 341
Non-cash – Classified as held for sale (62 635) 1 700 – (60 935)
Net debt as at 31 March 2021 57 753 (26 659) (60 246) (29 152)

Cash and
cash 

equivalents
R’000

Lease 
liabilities

R’000
Borrowings

R’000
Total

R’000

Net debt as at 31 March 2019 37 478 – (76 490) (39 012)
Cash flows – Other 42 594 3 963 11 497 58 054
Cash flows – Foreign exchange adjustment 2 534 – – 2 534
Non-cash – Right-of-use asset recognised – (34 183) – (34 183)
Net debt as at 31 March 2020 82 606 (30 220) (64 993) (12 607)
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36. 	 DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ EMOLUMENTS
For the purposes of defining related party transactions with key management, key management has been 
defined as directors and the managing directors and chief executives of the subsidiaries within the Group 
(prescribed officers) and includes entities controlled or jointly controlled by these individuals.

Executive directors are entitled to a monthly salary. The executive directors of Etion are involved in the Group’s 
activities on a day-to-day basis.

Non-executive directors are not involved in the day-to-day activities of the Group; neither are they full-time, 
salaried employees of the Group. The Non-executive directors enjoy no benefits from the Group for their 
services as directors, other than their monthly director’s fees and potential capital gains and dividends gained 
from interests in ordinary shares.

Prescribed officers includes the managing directors and chief executives of the subsidiaries within the Group.

	 Executive directors – paid by Etion Ltd

2021

Basic
 salary
R’000

Medical 
aid

R’000

Retirement
contribution

R’000
Total

R’000

T Daka (resigned 31 January 2021) 2 089 134 66 2 289
EC De Kock (resigned 31 May 2021) 1 995 – 341 2 336
N Naidoo (appointed 1 February 2021) 1 352 43 117 1 512
Total paid by Etion 5 436 177 524 6 137

2020

Basic
salary
R’000

Medical
aid

R’000

Retirement
contri-
bution
R’000

Total
R’000

T Daka 2 465 146 79 2 690
EC De Kock 1 888 – 330 2 218
Total paid by Etion 4 353 146 409 4 908

Executive directors – paid by subsidiary

2021

Basic
salary
R’000

Retirement
contri-
bution
R’000

Bonus and
perfor-

mance-
related

payments
R’000

Other
(leave 

pay/
commi-

ssion
R’000

Total
R’000

CF Maherry (resigned 31 August 2020) 936 70 101 396 1 503

2020

Basic
salary
R’000

Retirement
contri-
bution
R’000

Bonus and
perfor-

mance-
related

payments
R’000

Other
(leave 

pay/
commi-

ssion
R’000

Total
R’000

CF Maherry 2 245 168 101 – 2 514
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36. 	 DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ EMOLUMENTS continued
	 Non-executive

2021
Total

R’000

T Daka (appointed 1 February 2021) 76
CP Bester 293
Dr SJ Khoza (resigned 31 December 2020) 364
M Janse van Rensburg 314
R Willis (acting CEO from 1 June 2021) 249
Total paid by Etion 1 296
Etion Independent Board
S Naude 180
S Garrine 180
Total paid by Etion 360

During the current financial year Etion constituted an independent board which consists of M Janse van 
Rensburg, S Naude and S Garrine (“the Independent Board”) to oversee the implementation of the LAWTrust 
transaction in terms of the Companies regulations and the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

2020
Total

R’000

NS Mjoli-Mncube 66
CP Bester 293
Dr SJ Khoza 422
M Janse van Rensburg 265
R Willis 233
Total paid by Etion 1 279
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	 Prescribed officers paid by subsidiaries

2021

Basic
salary
R’000

Medical
aid

R’000

Retirement
contri-
bution
R’000

Bonus and
perfor-

mance-
related

payments
R’000

Other
(leave 

pay/
commi-

ssion
R’000

Total
R’000

PC Pelser 1 488 185 191 – – 1 864
ST Mafu 1 592 – 136 – – 1 728
CF Maherry 935 – 70 101 396 1 502
M Maherry 2 150 – 161 74 2 565 4 950

6 165 185 558 175 2 961 10 044

2020

Basic
salary
R’000

Medical
aid

R’000

Retirement
contri-
bution
R’000

Bonus and
perfor-

mance-
related

payments
R’000

Total
R’000

PC Pelser 1 498 158 207 – 1 863
W Modisapodi 787 – 67 – 854
T Hector 1 687 – 147 – 1 834
S Mafu 1 592 – 136 – 1 728
CF Maherry 2 245 – 168 101 2 514
M Maherry 1 885 141 92 727 2 845
K Seripe 1 249 101 117 190 1 657
Total paid by subsidiary 10 943 400 934 1 018 13 295
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37.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE

2021 2020

Total shares
number 

Weighted 
shares 

number
Total shares 

number

Weighted 
shares 

number

Total and weighted 
shares
Number of shares in issue

Opening balance 564 411 033 564 411 033 564 411 033 564 411 033
Closing balance 564 411 033 564 411 033 564 411 033 564 411 033

2021 2020

Basic and diluted loss per share attributable to ordinary 
shareholders
Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (R’000) 52 623 (36 128)
Weighted average number of shares in issue 564 411 033 564 411 033
Basic and diluted loss per share attributable to ordinary 
shareholders (cents) 9.32 (6.40)
Headline and diluted headline loss per share attributable to 
ordinary shareholders
Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (R’000) 52 623 (36 128)
Non-headline items after tax:
Loss on the sale of property, plant and equipment (R’000) – 8
Impairment of goodwill (R’000) – 25 171
Impairment of intangible assets (R’000) – 8 415
Total tax effect of adjustments (R’000) – (2 358)
Headline and diluted headline profit/(loss) per share  
attributable to ordinary shareholders 52 623 (4 892)
Headline and diluted headline loss from continuous operations 
(R’000) (3 664) (43 540)
Headline and diluted headline profit from discontinuous 
operations (R’000) 56 287 38 647
Weighted average number of shares in issue 564 411 033 564 411 033
Headline and diluted headline profit/(loss) per share  
attributable to ordinary shareholders (cents) 9.32 (0.87)
Headline and diluted headline loss per share from continuous 
operations (cents) (0.65) (7.71)
Headline and diluted headline profit per share from discontinuous 
operations (cents) 9.97 6.85
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38.	 GOING CONCERN
We are continually monitoring the COVID-19 outbreak and developments closely. The Group follows guidance 
from the World Health Organisation and abides by the requirements as activated by local governments. 
Contingency plans have been implemented as far as possible to mitigate the potential adverse impact on the 
Group’s employees and operations. The Board undertakes regular rigorous assessment of whether the Group is 
a going concern in light of current economic conditions and available information about future risks and 
uncertainties.

The Group implemented work-from-home policies and travel restrictions for its employees to help protect the 
health of its employees and those around them. For those employees directly serving customers, the company 
has implemented measures designed to safeguard both employees and its customers. The company 
continues to respond to the developing situation, adhering to official guidance and applicable law and 
regulation to limit the potential spread of COVID-19.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s budget projections of its expected medium-term profitability, 
sensitivity analyses and related cash flow forecasts for the year ending March 2022 which confirm that the 
Group has sufficient capital, liquidity and a positive future performance outlook to continue to meet its short 
term obligations. On this basis and in light of the Group’s current financial position, the directors are satisfied 
that the Group will continue to operate for the foreseeable future, even when considering the imminent 
disposal of LAWTrust, and have therefore adopted the going concern basis in preparing these annual 
consolidated financial statements.

39.	 COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The separate annual financial statements of the Etion Limited is available on the Company website:  
www.etion.co.za.



92

ETION Annual Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements

40.	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
The segment information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments, which defines 
the requirements of the disclosure of financial information of an entity’s operating segments.

	 Identification of reportable segments and description of principal activities
The Group discloses its reportable segments according to the Group’s components that the executive 
management team (CODM), consisting of the Group chief executive officer, the chief financial officer and 
managing directors and executives from the subsidiaries, monitor regularly in making decisions about the 
operating matters.

The Group consists of four reportable segments:

Etion Digitise: Safety and Productivity Solutions (SPS) – specialises in digital systems that help improve the 
safety and productivity of rail transport customers. Digitise designs and implements digital systems that 
incorporate IoT devices and custom software to provide condition monitoring systems aimed at helping its 
customers derive value from efficient asset management.

Etion Create: Original Design Manufacturing (ODM) – an original design manufacturer (ODM) that designs, 
develops and manufactures a range of advanced electronic and digital technologies for our customers. Create 
develops customised electronic subsystems and products for customers in the rail, mining and industrial, 
defence and aerospace, cyber security and IoT industries.

Etion Connect: Digital Network Solutions (DNS) – a value-added reseller (VAR) of passive fibre connectivity 
products for each part of a telecommunications network and offers design and installation solutions and 
services to network operators and their installers.

Etion Secure: Cyber Security Solutions (LAWTrust) – specialises in products and solutions that provide cyber 
security solutions, vulnerability assessments, and secure business transactions.

The operating segments have been aggregated based on the nature of the operational activities and legal 
structure of the Group.

	 Measurement of operating segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities
Segment information is prepared in conformity with the basis that is reported to the CODM in assessing 
segment performance and allocating resources to segments. These values have been reconciled to the annual 
consolidated financial statements. The basis reported by the Group is in accordance with the accounting 
policies adopted for preparing and presenting the annual consolidated financial statements and are consistent 
with the prior year.

Segment assets and liabilities have been allocated using the same principles in allocating the segment profit 
and loss. This entails assets and liabilities being allocated, as far as possible directly to the segments they relate 
to and the remaining assets and liabilities in the entities apportioned to segments based on the gross profit 
contribution of each segment.

Intersegment transactions are eliminated on a gross basis. Segment expenses include direct and allocated 
expenses.

	 Reportable segments
During the year the Group conducted operations in four main business areas: Safety and Productivity Solutions 
(SPS); Digital Network Solutions (DNS); Original Design Manufacturing (ODM) and Cyber Security.

Due to the conclusion of a transaction to dispose of 100% of Etion’s shareholding in LAWTrust, the results 
related to the Cyber Security segment have been presented as discontinued operations (Refer to note 18). The 
disclosures in the current year have thus been enhanced by presenting the discontinued operations separately 
as this is how the CODM reviews the segmental results.

	 Information about geographical areas
The Group operates primarily in South Africa. The Group revenue earned in South Africa is R631.268 million 
(2020: R512.254 million) and earned from other countries is R60.851 million (2020: R60.634 million) resulting 
mostly from business in the UAE region. All of the Groups’ assets and liabilities are located in South Africa. 
Revenue in the region of 62% of total revenue for the DNS segment was derived from a single external customer.
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2021
SPS

R’000
ODM*

R’000
DNS

R’000

Cyber
Security

R’000

Elimi-
nations

R’000

Dis-
continued

operations
R’000

Corporate
R’000

Total
R’000

Revenue

Resale of finished 
goods 11 291 – 193 384 9 722 – (9 722) – 204 675

Sale of goods 
manufactured – 173 188 – – (5 846) – – 167 342

Sale of design, 
development  
and project 
services – 42 262 – – (422) – – 41 840

Sale of network 
installation 
services – – 3 200 – – – – 3 200

Sale of licences – – – 128 832 – (128 832) – –

Support and 
maintenance 
services 2 242 – – 134 317 (51) (134 296) – 2 212

Segment 
expenses (6 212) (210 095) (192 498) (206 998) 10 452 205 610 – (399 741)

Segment forex 
profit and loss 2 2 313 6 633 334 – (334) – 8 948

Segment other 
operating income 2 14 121 421 6 454 (13 290) (6 434) – 1 274

Results

Segment profit 7 325 21 789 11 140 72 661 (9 157) (74 008) – 29 750

Corporate 
expenses – – – – – – (24 200) (24 200)

5 550

Operating profit

Finance income – – – – – – 373 373

Finance costs – – – – – – (8 557) (8 557)

Profit before tax (2 634)

Taxation (1 030)

Profit for  
the year (3 664)

Revenue from 
external 
customers 13 503 209 182 196 584 272 850 – (272 850) – 419 269

Segment 
revenue

At a point  
in time 11 291 173 188 193 384 138 554 (5 846) (138 554) – 372 017

Over time 2 242 42 262 3 200 134 317 (473) (134 296) – 47 252

13 533 215 450 196 584 272 871 (6 319) (272 850) – 419 269

Financial 
position

Assets 21 214 226 529 140 047 179 080 – – 52 222 619 092

Liabilities (4 365) (79 550) (76 058) (46 863) – – (51 006) (257 842)

*	 Operating segment includes results of Create, Parsec Properties and Parsec Holdings
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40.	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION continued

2020
SPS

R’000
ODM*

R’000
DNS

R’000

Cyber
Security

R’000

Elimi-
nations

R’000

Dis-
continued
operations

R’000
Corporate

R’000
Total

R’000

Revenue

Resale of finished 
goods 29 558 – 160 012 18 980 (910) (18 982) – 188 658

Sale of goods 
manufactured – 114 665 – – (10 125) – – 104 540

Sale of design, 
development and  
project services – 50 800 – – – – – 50 800

Sale of network  
installation services – – 2 298 – – – – 2 298

Sale of licences – – 700 112 225 – (112 225) – 700*

Support and  
maintenance services – – – 94 715 (29) (94 686) – –*

Segment expenses (65 999) (166 845) (189 550) (194 000) 64 019 182 250 – (370 125)

Segment other  
income/(expenses) 296 10 110 29 5 144 (10 455) (4 902) – 222

Segment other  
operating gains/
(losses) (262) (972) (6 043) 1 008 (11) (1 008) – (7 288)

Results

Segment profit (36 407) 7 758 (32 554) 38 072 42 491 (49 553) – (30 195)

Corporate expenses – – – – – – (54 082) (54 082)

Operating profit (84 277)

Finance income – – – – – 2 292 2 292

Finance costs – – – – – (10 735) (10 735)

Profit before tax (92 720)

Taxation 17 951

Profit for the year (74 769)

Revenue from 
external customers 28 646 155 340 163 010 225 891 – (225 891) – 346 996

Segment revenue

At a point in time 29 558 114 665 160 712 131 205 (11 035) (131 207) – 293 898

Over time – 50 800 2 298 94 715 (29) (94 686) – 53 098

29 558 165 465 163 010 225 920 (11 064) (225 893) – 346 996

Financial position

Assets 49 645 199 556 100 605 166 302 – 33 974 – 550 082

Liabilities (2 108) (66 179) (53 433) (56 088) – (63 647) – (241 455)

*	 Operating segment includes results of Create, Parsec Properties and Parsec Holdings

**	�Due to the conclusion of a transaction to dispose of 100% of Etion’s shareholding in LAWTrust the results related to the Cyber 
Security segment have been presented as discontinued operations, including the re-presentation of the comparative FY2020 
financial information
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2021

Digitise: 
Safety and

Productivity
 Solutions

R’000

Create: 
Original 
Design 
Manu-

facturing*
R’000

Connect:
Digital

Network 
Solutions

R’000

Secure:
Cyber

Security 
Solutions

R’000
Total

R’000

Segment profit excluding 
Corporate recovery 7 871 27 138 14 832 77 948 127 789

Digitise:
Safety and

Productivity
Solutions

R’000

Create: 
Original 
Design 
Manu-

facturing*
R’000

Connect:
Digital

Network 
Solutions

R’000

Secure:
Cyber

Security 
Solutions

R’000
Total

R’000

Segment profit excluding  
Corporate recovery (32 135) 16 566 (20 590) 46 016 9 857

*	 Operating segment includes results of Create, Parsec Properties and Parsec Holdings

Segment profit/(loss) including Corporate recovery is also disclosed as this is reviewed by the CODM and 
illustrates the impact of the management fees on profit/(losses) The Executive Committee (CODM) uses 
segment profit/(loss) excluding Corporate recovery as a measure to assess the performance of the segments. 
This excludes the respective Corporate recovery fee charged to the operating segment to recover costs 
incurred at a head office level.

A reconciliation of adjusted profit to operating profit before income tax is provided as follows:	

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Segment profit excluding Corporate recovery 127 789 9 857
Intersegment eliminations (9 157) 46 495
Management fees (14 874) (32 988)
Corporate costs (24 200) (58 088)
Finance costs (8 557) (10 735)
Finance income 373 2 292
Discontinued operations (74 008) (49 553)
Loss before income tax from continuing operations (2 634) (92 720)
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41.	 RELATED PARTIES
	 Relationships

Subsidiaries (wholly owned)	 Etion Connect (Pty) Ltd 

	 Etion Create (Pty) Ltd

	 Law Trusted Third Party Services (Pty) Ltd 

	 Optelix (Pty) Ltd

	 Parsec Holdings (Pty) Ltd 

	 Parsec Properties (Pty) Ltd 

	 Quadsoft (Pty) Ltd

	 Redline Telecommunications SA (Pty) Ltd

Joint venture	 Electronic DNA (Pty) Ltd

Directors	 Refer to note 36 for details of the directors

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Related party balances
Loan accounts – Owing (to) by related parties
Electronic DNA (Pty) Ltd* 2 304 2 304
*	 Included in Non-current Assets held for Sale. Refer to note 18

Number of shares held directly by related parties
T Daka 45 062 745 45 062 745
CF Maherry – 16 686 356
Number of shares held indirectly by related parties
T Daka 102 674 375 102 674 375
CP Bester 19 708 291 19 708 291
R Willis* 1 549 342 1 549 342
*	� R Willis is a director of Conexus Trustees (Pty) Ltd, the corporate trustee of 

Conexus Capital Growth Fund (“CCGF”). CCGF is a bewind trust meaning  
that the trustees have administrative powers over the management of the 
assets; the beneficial ownership of the assets vest directly in the beneficiaries. 
CCGF owns 78 000 000 shares in Etion which approximates 13.82% of the 
issued share capital. The Willis Family Trust is the beneficial owner of  
1 549 342 shares administered by the trustees of the CCGF

Related party transactions
Interest received from related parties
Electronic DNA (Pty) Ltd – (4 795)

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements
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42.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Disposal of LAWTrust
On 20 April 2021, Etion entered in a sale of shares agreement to sell 100% of its shareholding in LAWTrust to 
Altron TMT SA Group (Pty) Limited (“Altron”) for a disposal consideration of R245 million.

A programme to market and dispose of the business was launched in September 2020 with numerous 
engagements taking place between various interested parties and Etion in respect of the potential acquisition 
of the subsidiary. The disposal is consistent with the Group’s strategy to unlock shareholder value.

As at 29 March 2021, following the approval of the transaction and sales and purchase agreement by the 
directors, and consideration of the principles and requirement related to IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Classified 
as Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, the Group reclassified its investment in the underlying assets 
and liabilities of LAWTrust to assets/liabilities held for sale (refer note 18). As LAWTrust represents a separate 
major line of business, their results are presented as a discontinued operation in the consolidated statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income and related notes, including the re-presentation of the 
comparative FY2020 financial information.

The disposal was initially subject to the fulfilment or waiver of several outstanding conditions precedent by no 
later than 15 July 2021, including inter alia the approval from the Competition Commission and shareholders of 
Etion pursuant to the JSE Limited Listings Requirements. Etion and Altron have since signed an addendum to 
the sale and purchase agreement, wherein, the period in which the conditions precedent must be fulfilled 
has been extended to 31 August 2021. A circular to shareholders outlining all the pertinent information to 
the transaction was posted on 14 June 2021. The general meeting to approve the transaction was held on 
14 July 2021 with all the resolutions to approve the disposal passed by the requisite majorities of the Group’s 
shareholders.

Civil unrest in parts of South Africa
While Etion continues to monitor the potential impact of the civil unrest being experienced in various parts of 
the country, our preliminary assessments indicate that our operating entities have been largely unaffected by 
these events.

Potential risks identified include:

	– Delayed/non-payment from customer – The industries within which we operate have not been impacted by 
the unrest, with business continuing as usual. The Group has not received any specific communications from 
customers that would cause concern around their ability to meet their short-term obligations.

	– Business Continuity and employee safety – The sites from which we conduct business are well secured and 
located in areas that have not been affected. Furthermore, the implementation of work-from-home policies 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic has also assisted in minimising the disruption. For those employees 
directly serving customers, the Group has implemented measures to ensure the safety of both employees 
and its customers.

	– Foreign exchange fluctuations – Although the Rand has continued to lose ground against the US dollar, the 
Group has sufficient cover in place to hedge foreign supplier payments.

	– Supply chain – We have not experienced any major disruptions or delays in the procurement of goods and 
services.

These risks and other emerging risks are monitored on an on-going basis by the Group executive 
management team and in line with the operation’s business continuity plans. While every effort is being made 
to manage these risks, the situation remains volatile, and we are unable to quantify the future impact that on 
the Group.

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements  gg
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42.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS continued
Impact of COVID-19
While every effort has been made to quantify the future impact that the virus will have on the Group, the 
situation remains fluid and uncertain particularly in light of the continuation of the risk-adjusted approach 
implemented by the South African government in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic and the potential impact 
of a third wave. The implementation of the adjusted Level 4 lockdown on 28 June 2021, extending through to 
25 July 2021, has had a minimal impact on the Group with operations continuing uninterrupted under the strict 
health and safety guidelines mandated by the government.

Based on the magnitude of the pandemic and its potential impact on the financial statements, management 
has conducted a review of all possible financial effects the virus could have on the measurement, presentation 
and disclosure provided. The results of this assessment are disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements.

No other matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to year but before the financial statements were 
issued that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of 
those operations or the state of affairs of the entity at the reporting date other than the events disclosed above.

43.	 LIQUIDITY AND SOLVENCY
The directors have performed the required liquidity and solvency tests required by the Companies Act 71 
of 2008.
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Number of
shareholdings %

Number of 
shares %

Shareholder spread
1 – 1 000 shares  781 41.48  209 623 0.04
1 001 – 10 000 shares  506 26.87  2 184 498 0.39
10 001 – 100 000 shares  394 20.92  16 124 891 2.86
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares  157 8.34  51 891 498 9.19
1 000 001 shares and over  45 2.39  494 000 523 87.52
Total 1 883 100.00 564 411 033 100.00

Distribution of shareholders
Banks/brokers 8 0.42 5 206 378 0.92
Close corporations 22 1.17 5 521 920 0.98
Endowment funds 2 0.11 1 550 0.00
Individuals 1 759 93.41 184 032 963 32.61
Insurance companies 1 0.05 1 685 236 0.30
Mutual funds 3 0.16 24 324 766 4.31
Other corporations 5 0.27 551 673 0.10
Private companies 40 2.12 139 358 654 24.69
Private equity 1 0.05 78 000 000 13.82
Trusts 42 2.23 125 727 893 22.28
Total 1 883 100.00 564 411 033 100.00

Public/non-public shareholders
Non-public shareholders 11 0.48 303 182 217 53.72
Directors and associates of the Company 6 0.16 168 994 753 29.94
Exco, subsidiary directors and management 4 0.16 56 187 464 9.96
Strategic holders holding more than 10% 1 0.16 78 000 000 13.82
Public shareholders 1 872 99.52 261 228 816 46.28
Total 1 883 100.00 564 411 033 100.00

Beneficial shareholders holding  
3% or more
Daka, T 147 737 120 26.18
Clive Douglas Investments 78 000 000 13.82
Montshepetsa Boshego Family Trust 25 581 475 4.53
Investec 25 375 004 4.50
CNR Trust 21 814 752 3.87
P&V Trust 21 814 752 3.87
Coen Bester Trust 19 708 291 3.49
Total 340 031 394 60.25

Shareholder analysis
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BREAKDOWN OF NON-PUBLIC HOLDINGS	

Number of 
shares %

Directors
Daka, T 147 737 120 26.18
Tedaka Investments (Pty) Ltd 102 674 375 18.19
Daka, T 45 062 745 7.98
Willis, RC 1 549 342 0.27
Willis Family Trust 1 549 342 0.27
Bester, CP 19 708 291 3.49
Coen Bester Trust 19 708 291 3.49
Total 168 994 753 29.94

Subsidiary directors and management
Pelser, P 21 814 752 3.87
P&V Trust 21 814 752 3.87
Maherry, M 16 686 356 2.96
Maherry, M 16 686 356 2.96
Maherry, CF 16 686 356 2.96
Maherry, CF 16 686 356 2.96
Lamprecht, BC 1 000 000 0.18
Burt Christiaan Lamprecht 1 000 000 0.18
Total 56 187 464 9.96

Strategic holders holding more than 10%
Conexus Capital Growth Fund – Etion 78 000 000 13.82
Total 78 000 000 13.82

BREAKDOWN OF BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING 3% OR MORE	

Number of 
shares %

Daka, T 147 737 120 26.18
Tedaka Investments (Pty) Ltd 102 674 375 18.19
Daka, T 45 062 745 7.98
Clive Douglas Investments 78 000 000 13.82
Conexus Capital Growth Fund – Etion 78 000 000 13.82
Investec 23 282 403 4.13
Investec Wealth & Investment BCI Dynamic Equity Fund 23 282 403 4.13
Montshepetsa Boshego Family Trust 25 375 004 4.50
Montshepetsa Boshego Family Trust 25 375 004 4.50
CNR Trust 21 814 752 3.87
CNR Trust 21 814 752 3.87
P&V Trust 21 814 752 3.87
P&V Trust 21 814 752 3.87
Coen Bester Trust 19 708 291 3.49
Coen Bester Trust 19 708 291 3.49
Total 337 732 322 59.84
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